Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: October 11, 2021 ACCEPTED: October 30, 2021 PUBLISHED: November 17, 2021

# Energy-momentum tensor in QCD: nucleon mass decomposition and mechanical equilibrium

Cédric Lorcé,<sup>*a*,1</sup> Andreas Metz,<sup>*b*</sup> Barbara Pasquini<sup>*c*,*d*</sup> and Simone Rodini<sup>*c*,*d*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> CPHT, CNRS, Ecole Polytechnique, Institut Polytechnique de Paris, Route de Saclay, 91128 Palaiseau, France

ABSTRACT: We review and examine in detail recent developments regarding the question of the nucleon mass decomposition. We discuss in particular the virial theorem in quantum field theory and its implications for the nucleon mass decomposition and mechanical equilibrium. We reconsider the renormalization of the QCD energy-momentum tensor in minimal-subtraction-type schemes and the physical interpretation of its components, as well as the role played by the trace anomaly and Poincaré symmetry. We also study the concept of "quantum anomalous energy" proposed in some works as a new contribution to the nucleon mass. Examining the various arguments, we conclude that the quantum anomalous energy is not a genuine contribution to the mass sum rule, as a consequence of translation symmetry.

KEYWORDS: Perturbative QCD, Space-Time Symmetries, Anomalies in Field and String Theories, Renormalization Regularization and Renormalons

ARXIV EPRINT: 2109.11785



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>Department of Physics, SERC, Temple University,

Philadelphia, PA 19122, U.S.A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup>Dipartimento di Fisica, Università degli Studi di Pavia, I-27100 Pavia, Italy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup>Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare, Sezione di Pavia, I-27100 Pavia, Italy

*E-mail:* cedric.lorce@polytechnique.edu, metza@temple.edu, barbara.pasquini@unipv.it, simone.rodini01@universitadipavia.it

 $<sup>^{1}\</sup>mathrm{Corresponding}$  author.

# Contents

1 Introduction		1
Virial theorem in quantum field theory		2
2.1	Dilatations	2
2.2	Virial theorem for stationary states	3
2.3	Virial theorem for momentum eigenstates	5
<b>3</b> EMT matrix elements and their interpretation		7
3.1	Parametrization	7
3.2	Spatial distributions	7
3.3	Four-momentum sum rules	8
3.4	Lorentz symmetry and physical interpretation	9
Ten	Tensor analysis of nucleon mass	
4.1	Proper energy decomposition	11
4.2	The role of the trace anomaly in the origin of the nucleon mass	14
4.3	Generalized mass decomposition	16
5 Operator structure of the energy decomposition		18
5.1	Renormalized QCD energy-momentum tensor	18
5.2	Operator mixing	19
5.3	Symmetric traceless operators	22
5.4	Energy decomposition	23
5.5	Diagonal schemes	24
5.6	"Quantum anomalous energy"	26
6 EMT decomposition on the lattice		28
6.1	Lattice sum rules	28
6.2	Translation symmetry	30
Cor	nclusions	32
Viri	ial theorem	34
A.1	Classical point mechanics	34
A.2	Quantum mechanics	35
A.3	Link between field theory and point mechanics	37
Din	nensional regularization	38
	Viri 2.1 2.2 2.3 <b>EM</b> 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 <b>Ten</b> 4.1 4.2 4.3 <b>Ope</b> 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 5.6 <b>EM</b> 6.1 6.2 <b>Con</b> <b>Vir</b> A.1 A.2 A.3	<ul> <li>Virial theorem in quantum field theory</li> <li>2.1 Dilatations</li> <li>2.2 Virial theorem for stationary states</li> <li>2.3 Virial theorem for momentum eigenstates</li> <li>EMT matrix elements and their interpretation</li> <li>3.1 Parametrization</li> <li>3.2 Spatial distributions</li> <li>3.3 Four-momentum sum rules</li> <li>3.4 Lorentz symmetry and physical interpretation</li> <li>Tensor analysis of nucleon mass</li> <li>4.1 Proper energy decomposition</li> <li>4.2 The role of the trace anomaly in the origin of the nucleon mass</li> <li>4.3 Generalized mass decomposition</li> <li>5.1 Renormalized QCD energy-momentum tensor</li> <li>5.2 Operator mixing</li> <li>5.3 Symmetric traceless operators</li> <li>5.4 Energy decomposition</li> <li>5.5 Diagonal schemes</li> <li>5.6 "Quantum anomalous energy"</li> </ul>

#### **1** Introduction

In QCD the phenomenon of confinement prevents quarks and gluons to appear in the physical spectrum. Instead, one finds exclusively bound states of these elementary constituents. Hadron masses can largely differ from the sum of its constituent masses. Understanding how hadron masses arise is therefore of utmost importance.

Long ago, the nucleon mass has been decomposed in a frame-independent way into a quark and a gluon contribution using the trace of the energy-momentum tensor (EMT) operator  $g_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu}$  [1, 2]. Later, a decomposition into four contributions based on the component  $T^{00}$  in the rest frame has been proposed in refs. [3, 4]. Leaving aside the precise form of the underlying renormalized operators, both decompositions are mathematically correct but provide quite different pictures of the nucleon mass, triggering debates within the hadronic physics community about their physical meaning.

In order to clarify the situation, a general Poincaré-covariant and scheme-independent analysis has recently been presented in ref. [5], which concluded that the above two decompositions actually mix information about mass with the constraint of mechanical equilibrium. Keeping these two aspects of the hadronic bound state physics separated, one obtains in fact a natural decomposition of the hadron mass into a quark contribution and a gluon contribution. Quarks being massive particles, the quark contribution can be refined by separating the rest energy (i.e. quark mass) from the kinetic and potential energies. A three-term decomposition of  $T^{00}$  of this form has been discussed recently, along with the corresponding renormalized operators in dimensional regularization (DR) in minimal-subtraction-type (MS) schemes [6, 7].

While agreeing with the mathematical aspects of refs. [5-7], it is claimed in [8] that the two-term and three-term energy decompositions miss "some fundamental insight on the origin of the nucleon mass", namely the role played by the trace anomaly. A key step to obtain a four-term energy decomposition is to separate the EMT into traceless and trace parts, motivated by the fact that these two parts do not mix under Lorentz transformations and hence under renormalization. Focusing on  $T^{00}$ , it is found that the traceless part provides three quarters of the nucleon mass and the trace part provides the remaining quarter, a result referred to as a "virial theorem" in refs. [3, 4, 8–10]. Here we take a fresh look at the virial theorem in the context of quantum field theory (QFT); see also refs. [11–13]. In particular, we show that, for a closed system, the virial theorem coincides with the constraint of mechanical equilibrium put forward in refs. [5, 14–16].

The present work is organized as follows. In section 2 we study in detail the QFT version of the virial theorem. After elaborating in section 3 on the physical interpretation of the EMT components, we analyze in section 4 the consequences for the problem of the nucleon mass decomposition in the light of the arguments presented in refs. [8–10]. We review in section 5 the renormalization of the EMT operators in DR in MS-type schemes and the operator structure of the different mass terms in the four-term energy decomposition, which has been under some discussion recently [6–10, 17, 18]. We also comment on the role played by the trace anomaly and the related concept of "quantum anomalous energy". We show in section 6 the importance of preserving translation symmetry, and we argue

that one should be particularly careful when providing physical interpretation to operators appearing in a lattice-regulated theory. Our findings are then summarized in section 7. We present further details on the virial theorem and its physical meaning in various contexts in appendix A, and give a brief account of the DR approach in appendix B.

# 2 Virial theorem in quantum field theory

The virial theorem is essentially a statement about mechanical equilibrium in a bound state, expressed as a stationarity condition on the energy under spatial dilatations. It has largely been discussed in the context of classical and quantum mechanics (see appendix A for a short review), but its proper transposition to field theories is less known. In this section, we present first an original derivation of the virial theorem for stationary states in QFT, and then obtain a stronger version based on the divergence of the EMT. We discuss afterwards the relation with the plane-wave approach.

### 2.1 Dilatations

In a field theory, dilatations are associated with the current<sup>1</sup> [19, 20]

$$j_D^{\mu} = T^{\mu\nu} x_{\nu}.$$
 (2.1)

Note that we will not assume a priori that the system is closed, and hence that the EMT is conserved. The corresponding charge

$$D = \int d^3x \, j_D^0 = Ht - G \tag{2.2}$$

with  $H = \int d^3x T^{00}$  and  $G = \int d^3x T^{0i} x^i$  generates spacetime dilatations

$$\phi(x) \mapsto e^{i\kappa D} \phi(x) e^{-i\kappa D} = e^{\kappa d_{\phi}} \phi(e^{\kappa} x), \qquad (2.3)$$

or, in infinitesimal form,

$$\frac{1}{i}[\phi(x),D] = (x_{\mu}\partial^{\mu} + d_{\phi})\phi(x), \qquad (2.4)$$

where  $\phi(x)$  is a generic dynamical field appearing in the EMT and  $d_{\phi}$  is its scale dimension. In the following, we will drop all surface terms, assuming as usual that their contributions vanish for the physical states that we consider.

Using the Heisenberg equation of motion and the standard commutation relations with the momentum operator  $P^i = \int d^3x T^{0i}$ , we can write<sup>2</sup>

$$\frac{1}{i}[P^{\mu},D] = P^{\mu} - g^{\mu 0} \frac{\mathrm{d}D}{\mathrm{d}t}.$$
(2.5)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In general there can be an additional term  $V^{\mu}$  called the virial current. It is however often possible to redefine the EMT so that the virial current does not appear.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Note that if the theory is invariant under dilatations, then dD/dt = 0 which implies  $\frac{1}{i}[H, D] = H$ . If a stationary state exists, then  $\langle H \rangle = 0$ . Eigenstates of the Hamiltonian with nonzero energy are therefore not stationary. The only possibility is that they move at the speed of light, meaning that they must be massless.

For  $\mu = i$ , this relation indicates that dilatations simply rescale the momentum. For  $\mu = 0$ , the rescaling of the Hamiltonian is accompanied by another contribution arising from the breaking of dilatation symmetry. The latter is measured by dD/dt and can be expressed as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}D}{\mathrm{d}t} = \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \,\partial_0 j_D^0 = \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \left(\partial_\mu j_D^\mu - \boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \boldsymbol{j}_D\right) = \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \,T^\mu_{\ \mu} + \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \,\mathcal{F}^\mu x_\mu, \tag{2.6}$$

where the density of four-force is defined as  $\mathcal{F}^{\mu} = \partial_{\lambda} T^{\lambda \mu}$ . Under an infinitesimal dilatation  $x^{\mu} \mapsto (1 + \delta \kappa) x^{\mu}$ , the variation of the Hamiltonian is given by

$$\delta H = i[H, D] \,\delta\kappa = \left[ -\sum_{i} \int \mathrm{d}^{3}x \, T^{ii} - \int \mathrm{d}^{3}x \, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{F}} \cdot \boldsymbol{x} + t \, \frac{\mathrm{d}H}{\mathrm{d}t} \right] \delta\kappa. \tag{2.7}$$

Note that only spatial dilatations (i.e. those generated by G) matter since [H, D] = -[H, G]. We could therefore have directly started with G instead of D, like in the case of point particles treated in appendix A, but the spirit of relativistic field theories makes it a priori more natural to consider spacetime dilatations rather than pure spatial dilatations.

Using the operator equation (2.7), we can write the mean variation of the energy as

$$\left\langle \delta H \right\rangle = -\bar{p}\,\delta V - \bar{f}\,\delta \ell + \left\langle \frac{\mathrm{d}H}{\mathrm{d}t} \right\rangle \delta t,\tag{2.8}$$

where  $\langle O \rangle$  is the expectation value of the operator O in some properly normalized state, V is the volume and  $\ell$  is the radius of a sphere containing the system,

$$\bar{p} \equiv \frac{1}{3V} \sum_{i} \langle \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, T^{ii} \rangle \tag{2.9}$$

is the average isotropic stress or pressure,<sup>3</sup> and

$$\bar{f} \equiv \frac{1}{\ell} \left\langle \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{F}} \cdot \boldsymbol{x} \right\rangle \tag{2.10}$$

is the average radial force. The combination  $\delta W = \bar{p} \, \delta V + \bar{f} \, \delta \ell$  represents the mean work exerted by the system under the infinitesimal spatial dilatation. The last term in eq. (2.8) represents dissipation.

#### 2.2 Virial theorem for stationary states

Assuming that the Hamiltonian is time-independent, the QFT version of the virial theorem follows directly from the expectation value of eq. (2.7) in a (normalized) stationary state  $H|\Psi\rangle = E|\Psi\rangle$ 

$$\sum_{i} \langle \Psi | \int \mathrm{d}^{3}x \, T^{ii} |\Psi\rangle + \langle \Psi | \int \mathrm{d}^{3}x \, \boldsymbol{\mathcal{F}} \cdot \boldsymbol{x} |\Psi\rangle = 0.$$
(2.11)

It is a balance equation stating that in a stationary state the virtual work exerted by the system under a spatial dilatation vanishes. In other words, the system is in mechanical equilibrium.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Since the momentum density  $\langle T^{0i} \rangle(\boldsymbol{x})$  does not vanish in general,  $\bar{p}$  includes a convective contribution and should not be confused with hydrostatic pressure which is defined in the local rest frame of the medium.

For a system of massive point particles, one can write

$$\sum_{i} T^{ii}(x) = \sum_{k} \boldsymbol{v}_{k}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{p}_{k}(x) \,\delta^{(3)}(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{r}_{k}(t)),$$
$$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{F}}(x) = \sum_{k} \boldsymbol{F}_{k}(t, \boldsymbol{r}_{k}(t)) \,\delta^{(3)}(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{r}_{k}(t)),$$
(2.12)

where  $\boldsymbol{v}_k = \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{r}_k/\mathrm{d}t$  is the velocity of particle k,  $\boldsymbol{p}_k$  is its momentum, and  $\boldsymbol{F}_k$  is the force acting on it; see appendix A.3. Noting that for a non-relativistic system the total kinetic energy is given by  $\mathcal{T} = \sum_k \frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{v}_k \cdot \boldsymbol{p}_k$ , it is easy to see that eq. (2.11) reduces after integration to

$$\langle \Psi | \mathcal{T} | \Psi \rangle = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{k} \langle \Psi | \boldsymbol{r}_{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{F}_{k} | \Psi \rangle, \qquad (2.13)$$

which is the familiar form of the virial theorem in non-relativistic quantum mechanics.

For a *closed* system, the total EMT is conserved and the virial theorem reduces to

$$\sum_{i} \langle \Psi | \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, T^{ii} | \Psi \rangle = 0. \tag{2.14}$$

This relation has largely been discussed in the QED context for an electron state [21–26], and is a key aspect of the hadron mechanical structure [14–16] which impacts the hadron mass decomposition [5]. It is however usually obtained from a different approach, and therefore often not recognized as the virial theorem. The situation is different, e.g., in plasma physics [27–29] where eq. (2.14) is well known as the virial theorem. Defining the isotropic stress or pressure distribution as  $p(\mathbf{x}) \equiv \frac{1}{3} \sum_i \langle \Psi | T^{ii}(\mathbf{x}) | \Psi \rangle$ , we see that the virial theorem for a closed system amounts simply to the von Laue condition for mechanical equilibrium [30]

$$\int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, p(\boldsymbol{x}) = 0, \qquad (2.15)$$

derived long ago in the context of classical field theory.

We observe that there exists actually some confusion in the field theory literature about the notion of virial theorem. For example, in the seminal paper [31] introducing the MIT bag model two so-called "virial theorems" are derived using naive transpositions of the point mechanics quantity  $G = \sum_k \mathbf{r}_k \cdot \mathbf{p}_k$  to continuum mechanics. The first one is based on  $G \mapsto \Omega = \int d^3x \, \phi(x) \dot{\phi}(x)$ , where  $\phi(x)$  is a massless scalar field describing quarks inside the bag and  $\dot{\phi}(x)$  is its time derivative. The second one is based on  $G \mapsto \overline{\Omega} = \int d^3x \, \phi(x) \, \mathbf{x} \cdot \nabla \dot{\phi}(x)$ , which is close to the correct transposition  $G \mapsto \int d^3x \, T^{0i}x^i = \int d^3x \, \dot{\phi}(x) \, \mathbf{x} \cdot \nabla \dot{\phi}(x)$ . In a subsequent paper [32], it has been observed that the key results derived from the combination of  $d\langle\Psi|\Omega|\Psi\rangle/dt = 0$  and  $d\langle\Psi|\overline{\Omega}|\Psi\rangle/dt = 0$  can in fact be obtained from the stationarity of the system rest energy under spatial dilatations. This variational principle expresses mechanical equilibrium and has been used later in the context of soliton models [15, 33, 34], where it is commonly referred to as the virial theorem. We agree with the latter naming since requiring stationarity under spatial dilatations amounts to using the correct form for the generator of spatial dilatations  $G \mapsto \int d^3x \, T^{0i}x^i$  from which one usually derives the virial theorem  $d\langle\Psi|G|\Psi\rangle/dt = 0$ ; see appendix A. Let us now consider a stronger version of the virial theorem which is most easily derived without explicit reference to dilatations. To this end, let us generalize the approach followed in refs. [11, 12, 15, 35, 36] and write the identity

$$\partial_0 T^{0\mu} = \mathcal{F}^\mu - \partial_k T^{k\mu}. \tag{2.16}$$

For a stationary state, the left-hand side vanishes using the Heisenberg equation of motion and we can write

$$\partial_k \langle \Psi | T^{k\mu} | \Psi \rangle - \langle \Psi | \mathcal{F}^{\mu} | \Psi \rangle = 0.$$
(2.17)

Multiplying by  $x^i$  and integrating over space gives for  $\mu = j$ 

$$\langle \Psi | \int d^3x \, T^{ij} |\Psi\rangle + \langle \Psi | \int d^3x \, x^i \mathcal{F}^j |\Psi\rangle = 0.$$
(2.18)

This is the QFT version of the so-called *tensor* virial theorem [37], whose spatial trace reduces to the usual (scalar) virial theorem (2.11). It expresses the fact that a stationary state is in mechanical equilibrium not only under isotropic dilatations, but more generally under any (infinitesimal) spatial deformation. For a *closed* system, the tensor virial theorem reduces to

$$\langle \Psi | \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, T^{ij} | \Psi \rangle = 0. \tag{2.19}$$

Since the virial theorem concerns only the stress tensor, one may wonder in what frame it applies. Clearly it cannot be a generic frame for it would imply that the expectation value of the total EMT must identically vanish. By a stationary state it is usually understood a normalizable state, excluding therefore momentum eigenstates. It is easy to see that the expectation value of total momentum  $\boldsymbol{P}$  in a stationary state vanishes, meaning that the system is in average at rest. One can indeed use, e.g., the center of energy  $\boldsymbol{R} = \frac{1}{H} \int d^3x \, \boldsymbol{x} \, T^{00}$  to define the position of a closed system. The velocity operator is then given by  $d\boldsymbol{R}/dt = \boldsymbol{P}/H$ , whose expectation value in a stationary state vanishes using again the Heisenberg equation of motion. So, in conclusion, the virial theorem simply expresses the condition of mechanical equilibrium of a massive system in the system rest frame.

#### 2.3 Virial theorem for momentum eigenstates

In particle physics, it is customary to work with four-momentum eigenstates instead of normalizable stationary states. It is actually possible to obtain in a simple way the content of the virial theorem for a closed system for such states, but the derivation turns out to involve additional information that should be distinguished from the virial theorem.

Poincaré symmetry implies that the forward matrix elements of the total EMT must have the form [38-40]

$$\langle p|T^{\mu\nu}(x)|p\rangle = 2p^{\mu}p^{\nu}, \qquad (2.20)$$

where  $|p\rangle$  is covariantly normalized, i.e.  $\langle p'|p\rangle = (2\pi)^3 2p^0 \delta^{(3)}(p'-p)$ . (For simplicity, we suppress the spin labels for the nucleon states throughout this work.) This ensures that the total four-momentum is given by

$$\frac{\langle p|\int \mathrm{d}^3x \, T^{0\mu}(x)|p\rangle}{\langle p|p\rangle} = p^{\mu}.$$
(2.21)

The average total stress tensor then reads

$$\frac{\langle p|\int \mathrm{d}^3x \, T^{ij}(x)|p\rangle}{\langle p|p\rangle} = \frac{p^i p^j}{p^0}.$$
(2.22)

For a state at rest defined by  $p_{\text{rest}}^{\mu} = (M, \mathbf{0})$ , we recover directly the tensor virial theorem for a closed system

$$\frac{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | \int d^3 x \, T^{ij}(x) | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle}{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle} = 0.$$
(2.23)

In the context of classical field theory, von Laue [30] showed that eq. (2.23) is a necessary and sufficient condition for the total four-momentum to transform as a Lorentz four-vector. The same condition must also hold in QFT [21, 23, 24] since it is just based on Lorentz symmetry.

Clearly the tensor analysis approach, which is based on eq. (2.20), is very powerful and arrives at eq. (2.19) in a very simple (though somewhat formal) way, with the advantage of extending its expression to any Lorentz frame. The drawback is that it keeps the physical meaning obscure, and in particular the fact that it includes automatically the virial theorem which is associated with spatial dilatations. To clarify the physical meaning of eq. (2.20), we first note that the tensor virial theorem for a closed system in eq. (2.23) can be expressed in an arbitrary frame as

$$(u^{\mu}u_{\alpha} - \delta^{\mu}_{\alpha})(u^{\nu}u_{\beta} - \delta^{\nu}_{\beta}) \frac{\langle p|\int \mathrm{d}V \, T^{\alpha\beta}(x)|p\rangle}{\langle p|p\rangle} = 0, \qquad (2.24)$$

where  $u^{\mu} = p^{\mu}/M$  is the system four-velocity and  $dV = u^0 d^3x$  is the Lorentz-invariant proper volume element. It implies that

$$\frac{\langle p|\int \mathrm{d}V \, T^{\mu\nu}(x)|p\rangle}{\langle p|p\rangle} = \frac{\langle p|T^{\mu\nu}(0)|p\rangle}{2M} = A \, u^{\mu}u^{\nu},\tag{2.25}$$

where we used translation invariance and the fact that

$$\langle p|p\rangle = (2\pi)^3 2p^0 \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{0}) = 2M (2\pi)^3 u^0 \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{0}) = 2M \int \mathrm{d}V.$$
 (2.26)

Note that one arrives at the same conclusion using tensor analysis and the conservation of the total EMT which excludes other possible Lorentz structures involving  $g^{\mu\nu}$  or polarization tensors [41]. We stress that the virial theorem does not require to know the coefficient A. The latter is fixed by the additional requirement that the proper energy is the mass of the system

$$u_{\mu}u_{\nu} \frac{\langle p|\int \mathrm{d}V \, T^{\mu\nu}(x)|p\rangle}{\langle p|p\rangle} = M \tag{2.27}$$

or, equivalently, by the requirement of four-momentum conservation (2.21). This implies that A = M, leading us back to eq. (2.20). This analysis shows clearly that the expression (2.20) combines in fact *two* distinct physical aspects of bound systems: one is the virial theorem expressing mechanical equilibrium (2.24) and the other is that the mass of the system is M (2.27).

## **3** EMT matrix elements and their interpretation

Now that the QFT version of the virial theorem is well identified, we would like to add further discussion about the physical interpretation of the EMT matrix elements. For our purpose, it will be sufficient to work with the symmetric (or Belinfante) form of the EMT. We will also assume that the total EMT can be written as the sum of partial EMTs

$$T^{\mu\nu}(x) = \sum_{a} T^{\mu\nu}_{a}(x)$$
(3.1)

associated with the individual species of constituents in the system. In QCD, we will typically separate the system into quark and gluon contributions. The quark contribution can further be decomposed into flavor contributions. Note that vacuum expectation values are always implicitly subtracted from these operators.

# 3.1 Parametrization

For a spin-1/2 target, the matrix elements of the symmetric (or Belinfante) EMT can be parametrized in general as [38, 39, 42]

$$\langle p'|T_a^{\mu\nu}(0)|p\rangle = \overline{u}(p')\Gamma_a^{\mu\nu}(P,\Delta)u(p)$$
(3.2)

with

$$\Gamma_{a}^{\mu\nu}(P,\Delta) = \frac{P^{\{\mu}\gamma^{\nu\}}}{M} A_{a}(\Delta^{2}) + \frac{P^{\{\mu}i\sigma^{\nu\}\lambda}\Delta_{\lambda}}{2M} B_{a}(\Delta^{2}) + \frac{\Delta^{\mu}\Delta^{\nu} - g^{\mu\nu}\Delta^{2}}{M} C_{a}(\Delta^{2}) + Mg^{\mu\nu}\bar{C}_{a}(\Delta^{2}),$$
(3.3)

where  $a^{\{\mu b^{\nu}\}} = \frac{1}{2}(a^{\mu}b^{\nu} + a^{\nu}b^{\mu})$ ,  $P = \frac{1}{2}(p'+p)$  is the average four-momentum,  $\Delta = p'-p$  is the four-momentum transfer, and *a* is just a generic label specifying the EMT contribution. The gravitational form factors depend on  $\Delta^2$  only and therefore are frame-independent. In the forward limit, this parametrization reduces to

$$\langle p|T_a^{\mu\nu}(0)|p\rangle = 2p^{\mu}p^{\nu}A_a(0) + 2M^2g^{\mu\nu}\bar{C}_a(0).$$
 (3.4)

#### 3.2 Spatial distributions

The expectation value of the EMT tensor in some physical nucleon state  $|\Psi\rangle$  (not necessarily stationary) at time t = 0 is given by

$$\langle \Psi | T_a^{\mu\nu}(0, \boldsymbol{x}) | \Psi \rangle = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p'}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p}{(2\pi)^3} \,\tilde{\Psi}^*(\boldsymbol{p}') \tilde{\Psi}(\boldsymbol{p}) \, e^{-i(\boldsymbol{p}'-\boldsymbol{p})\cdot\boldsymbol{x}} \, \frac{\langle p' | T_a^{\mu\nu}(0) | p \rangle}{\sqrt{2p'^0 2p^0}}, \tag{3.5}$$

where the momentum-space wave packet is defined as  $\tilde{\Psi}(\boldsymbol{p}) = \langle p | \Psi \rangle / \sqrt{2p^0}$ . Applying a Wigner transform, this can be rewritten in a phase-space representation as [16, 43, 44]

$$\langle \Psi | T_a^{\mu\nu}(0, \boldsymbol{x}) | \Psi \rangle = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 P}{(2\pi)^3} \,\mathrm{d}^3 R \,\rho_{\Psi}(\boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{P}) \,\langle T_a^{\mu\nu} \rangle(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{R}, \boldsymbol{P}) \tag{3.6}$$

with

$$\rho_{\Psi}(\boldsymbol{R},\boldsymbol{P}) \equiv \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 q}{(2\pi)^3} e^{-i\boldsymbol{q}\cdot\boldsymbol{R}} \tilde{\Psi}^*(\boldsymbol{P}+\frac{\boldsymbol{q}}{2}) \tilde{\Psi}(\boldsymbol{P}-\frac{\boldsymbol{q}}{2})$$
(3.7)

the nucleon Wigner distribution and

$$\langle T_a^{\mu\nu} \rangle(\boldsymbol{r}, \boldsymbol{P}) \equiv \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 \Delta}{(2\pi)^3} e^{-i\boldsymbol{\Delta}\cdot\boldsymbol{r}} \, \frac{\langle P + \frac{\Delta}{2} | T_a^{\mu\nu}(0) | P - \frac{\Delta}{2} \rangle}{\sqrt{2p'^0 2p^0}} \tag{3.8}$$

the internal EMT distribution for a nucleon localized in the Wigner sense in phase space. The average rest frame P = 0 is known as the Breit frame, where eq. (3.8) reduces to the 3D EMT distributions introduced in ref. [14] and reviewed in ref. [15]. When  $P \neq 0$  one can choose without loss of generality the z axis along P. Integrating over  $r_z$ , one obtains the 2D EMT distributions which become genuine probabilistic distributions in the infinite-momentum limit [16, 45, 46]. In these two cases there is no energy transfer,  $p'^0 = p^0$ , so that the spatial distributions are in fact static, i.e. time-independent. Relativistic spatial charge distributions are constructed in a similar way using the charge current  $j^{\mu}(x)$  [47].

## 3.3 Four-momentum sum rules

Integrating eq. (3.5) over all space and using the parametrization (3.4), we arrive at

$$\langle \Psi | \int d^3 x \, T_a^{\mu\nu}(0, \boldsymbol{x}) | \Psi \rangle = \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^3} \, |\tilde{\Psi}(\boldsymbol{p})|^2 \, \frac{p^\mu p^\nu A_a(0) + M^2 g^{\mu\nu} \bar{C}_a(0)}{p^0}.$$
(3.9)

For a state with well-defined momentum p, this reduces to

$$\frac{\langle p|\int d^3x \, T_a^{\mu\nu}(0,\boldsymbol{x})|p\rangle}{\langle p|p\rangle} = \frac{p^{\mu}p^{\nu}A_a(0) + M^2 g^{\mu\nu}\bar{C}_a(0)}{p^0},\tag{3.10}$$

which is also valid for  $t \neq 0$  because  $|p\rangle$  is an energy eigenstate. With the four-momentum operator being defined as

$$P_a^{\mu}(t) = \int d^3x \, T_a^{0\mu}(t, \boldsymbol{x}), \qquad (3.11)$$

we obtain from eq. (3.10) the expression [48]

$$\frac{\langle p|P_a^{\mu}(t)|p\rangle}{\langle p|p\rangle} = p^{\mu}A_a(0) + \frac{M^2}{p^0}g^{0\mu}\bar{C}_a(0).$$
(3.12)

Summing over all the contributions we should recover the four-momentum of the state, leading therefore to a momentum sum rule for  $\mu = i$ 

$$\sum_{a} A_a(0) = 1 \tag{3.13}$$

and an energy sum rule for  $\mu = 0$ 

$$\sum_{a} \left[ A_a(0) + \frac{M^2}{(p^0)^2} \bar{C}_a(0) \right] = 1.$$
(3.14)

Equation (3.14) must be true in any frame and we conclude that

$$\sum_{a} \bar{C}_{a}(0) = 0. \tag{3.15}$$

## 3.4 Lorentz symmetry and physical interpretation

From the point of view of Lorentz symmetry, it is interesting to decompose the EMT into a symmetric traceless contribution and a trace contribution [3, 4], since these belong to different representations of the Lorentz group and hence do not mix under Lorentz transformations. One can then rewrite eq. (3.10) as

$$\frac{\langle p|\int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, T_a^{\mu\nu}(x)|p\rangle}{\langle p|p\rangle} = \frac{1}{p^0} \left[ \left( p^\mu p^\nu - \frac{M^2}{4} \, g^{\mu\nu} \right) A_a(0) + \frac{M^2}{4} \, g^{\mu\nu} \left( A_a(0) + 4\bar{C}_a(0) \right) \right]. \tag{3.16}$$

Alternatively, we may note that the four-momentum of the system is a timelike four-vector that can be used to provide a natural foliation of spacetime into spacelike hypersurfaces. From the physical point of view, this means that  $p^{\mu}$  specifies in a covariant way the rest frame of the system. We can then decompose the EMT into parallel and orthogonal contributions to  $p^{\mu}$  [5, 49–51]

$$\frac{\langle p|\int d^3x \, T_a^{\mu\nu}(x)|p\rangle}{\langle p|p\rangle} = \frac{1}{p^0} \left[ p^{\mu} p^{\nu} \left( A_a(0) + \bar{C}_a(0) \right) - \left( p^{\mu} p^{\nu} - M^2 g^{\mu\nu} \right) \bar{C}_a(0) \right].$$
(3.17)

In the rest frame, we have in particular

$$\frac{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | \int d^3 x \, T_a^{\mu\nu}(x) | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle}{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle} = M \begin{pmatrix} A_a(0) + \bar{C}_a(0) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\bar{C}_a(0) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\bar{C}_a(0) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\bar{C}_a(0) \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.18)$$

which shows that the combination  $A_a(0) + \bar{C}_a(0)$  represents the fraction of the system rest energy carried by the subsystem a, and that  $-\bar{C}_a(0)M$  represents the rest isotropic stress of this subsystem integrated over the volume. Dividing by the proper volume V of the system, one can interpret  $A_a(0) + \bar{C}_a(0)$  as the average energy density and  $-\bar{C}_a(0)$  as the average isotropic pressure, both defined in the rest frame of the system and expressed in units of M/V [5].

Thanks to eq. (3.18), we can easily understand the physical meaning of the sum rule (3.15). It is simply the virial theorem derived in section 2, expressing the mechanical equilibrium of the system [5]. The fact that we have in the forward limit two gravitational form factors  $A_a(0)$  and  $\bar{C}_a(0)$  satisfying two *independent* sum rules (3.14) and (3.15) strongly suggests that they correspond to two *distinct* aspects of the physics of bound states. This is further motivated by the structure of the EMT which adopts its simplest form in the nucleon rest frame (3.18).

Although the habit of interpreting expectation values of the EMT using the language of continuum mechanics has a long history [14, 21–24, 26–29, 52–55], some concerns about this picture have recently been expressed in ref. [8]. It is claimed that the interpretation in terms of energy density and pressure makes sense only under some conditions. One of them is that the particles mean free paths must be much smaller than the volume elements. It is then concluded that "in QCD, only at high-temperature and density, a fluid description of the combined quark and gluon plasma might make sense" [8]. We remind however that the alluded conditions indicate in fact whether a *macroscopic* continuum description can be used when the *microscopic* degrees of freedom are discrete. They tell us, e.g., under what circumstances one can describe a gas composed of a large number of particles as a classical continuous medium from an effective macroscopic point of view.

In QFT the fundamental degrees of freedom are *fields*, and particles emerge as somewhat localized excitations of the latter. Unlike classical field theory, which is usually seen as an *effective* macroscopic description, QFT is a *fundamental* continuous description. Following quantum mechanics, the expectation value  $\langle \Psi | T^{\mu\nu}(x) | \Psi \rangle$  simply represents the quantum mean value of the EMT at some spacetime point x. There is no coarse graining<sup>4</sup> involved and one can safely apply the language of continuum mechanics. We also point out that the average energy density and pressure are here defined by dividing the total rest energy and work by the *whole* proper volume of the nucleon, which is necessarily larger than the quark and gluon mean free paths. The conditions of applicability of the effective macroscopic description are therefore also satisfied.

Let us illustrate this with an example. If we consider an ideal gas from a macroscopic point of view, the stress tensor will contain both a convective contribution and an internal pressure contribution, but from the microscopic point-particle perspective both arise from the motion of the particles and hence are purely convective. The macroscopic distinction arises simply because of the coarse graining procedure, which defines an effective local pressure by averaging over distances larger than the particles mean free paths. In QFT, the situation is reversed since the microscopic degrees of freedom are not particles but quantum fields. So on top of the convective contribution (i.e. kinetic energy), the microscopic stress tensor will in general also receive some internal contribution. For a stationary state there cannot be friction, so the internal stress is akin to a conservative potential energy and can accordingly be interpreted as pressure. More precisely, average pressure<sup>5</sup> is simply understood in the sense of  $\bar{p} = -\delta E/\delta V$  where  $\delta E = \langle \Psi | \delta H | \Psi \rangle$  is the variation of energy associated with an infinitesimal change of volume  $\delta V$ , see section 2.1.

## 4 Tensor analysis of nucleon mass

Having discussed in detail the physical interpretation of EMT matrix elements, we now address specifically the question of the nucleon mass decomposition. We will adopt here the approach of ref. [5] which extends the work of Polyakov [14] to the non-conserved (partial) EMTs of the partons. It is very general in the sense that it is based only on the components of the EMT, and not on the particular form assumed by the latter in a given theory and renormalization scheme. Note that this does not mean of course that the magnitude of the individual contributions are renormalization-scheme independent. Again, we will consider that the total EMT can be written as a sum of partial EMTs as in eq. (3.1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In reality, contributions to the EMT usually diverge in perturbation theory in terms of the bare degrees of freedom, so that the theory has to be renormalized. In some sense renormalization is akin to coarse graining since it amounts to defining effective finite degrees of freedom through the choice of particular renormalization conditions and introducing a so-called renormalization scale.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>In this work we are talking about the non-thermal part of energy density and pressure. The thermal part is defined in finite temperature field theory from the thermal average of the same components  $T^{00}$  and  $T^{ii}$  of the EMT [56–58]. The non-thermal part has recently been investigated in lattice field theory in refs. [59–62].

# 4.1 Proper energy decomposition

In special relativity, mass is defined by the equation  $p^{\mu}p_{\mu} = M^2$ , where  $p^{\mu}$  is the total four-momentum of the system. In QFT, this becomes an operator identity

$$P^{\mu}P_{\mu} = M^2, \tag{4.1}$$

with  $P^{\mu}$  the total four-momentum operator. Since we can write

$$M|p\rangle = \frac{P^{\mu}P_{\mu}}{M}|p\rangle = P^{\mu}|p\rangle u_{\mu}$$
(4.2)

for a massive momentum eigenstate, we conclude that (invariant) mass is fundamentally the proper energy of the system [5, 63], i.e. the Lorentz-invariant expression of the rest-frame energy.<sup>6</sup>

A mass decomposition is therefore a proper energy decomposition. Using eq. (3.12), it is given by the Lorentz-invariant relation

$$M = \sum_{a} \frac{\langle p | \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, T_a^{0\mu}(x) | p \rangle}{\langle p | p \rangle} \, u_\mu = \sum_{a} \left[ A_a(0) + \bar{C}_a(0) \right] M. \tag{4.3}$$

In the rest frame, the nucleon four-velocity reduces to  $u^{\mu} = (1, \mathbf{0})$  and the proper energy  $P^{\mu}u_{\mu}$  coincides with the energy  $P^{0} = \int d^{3}x T^{00}(x)$ , which was the starting point of refs. [3, 4]. Nucleons being composed of quarks and gluons, it has been argued in ref. [5] that a natural decomposition of the nucleon mass will consist of two terms,

$$M = U_q + U_q, \tag{4.4}$$

where

$$U_a \equiv \left[A_a(0) + \bar{C}_a(0)\right] M \tag{4.5}$$

is interpreted as the internal proper energy associated with parton species a.

It is possible to refine this decomposition. An obvious and theoretically trivial refinement would be to separate  $U_q$  into contributions from the different quark flavors. We do not elaborate on this point which only matters when studying numerical values for the contributions to the nucleon mass. Let us rather focus on another refinement. Since quarks are massive particles we can write [5–7]

$$M = (U_q - U_m) + U_m + U_g, (4.6)$$

where

$$U_m \equiv \frac{\langle p | \int dV \, (\overline{\psi} m \psi)(x) | p \rangle}{\langle p | p \rangle} = \frac{\langle p | \int d^3x \, (\overline{\psi} m \psi)(x) | p \rangle}{\langle p | p \rangle} \, u^0 \tag{4.7}$$

can be interpreted as the quark mass or rest-energy contribution, and therefore  $(U_q - U_m)$  as the quark proper kinetic and potential energies. This is motivated by the familiar decomposition of a free-particle energy into kinetic and rest energy contributions,

$$\sqrt{\mathbf{p}^2 + M^2} = \left(\sqrt{\mathbf{p}^2 + M^2} - M\right) + M.$$
 (4.8)

 $<sup>^6 {\</sup>rm Similarly},$  proper time and proper length are the Lorentz-invariant expressions of rest-frame lapse and distance.

The three-term energy decomposition (4.6) has recently been obtained in DR [6, 7], and will be discussed in more detail in section 5.

The pioneering four-term energy decomposition proposed in refs. [3, 4] has recently been slightly reorganized in refs. [8, 64-66]. To obtain its modern form within the present tensor analysis approach, we need to write

$$M = M_q + M_g + M_m + M_a, (4.9)$$

using the refinement

$$M_{q} \equiv U_{q} - c_{m}M_{m} - c_{a}M_{a},$$

$$M_{g} \equiv U_{g} - (1 - c_{m})M_{m} - (1 - c_{a})M_{a},$$

$$M_{m} \equiv U_{m},$$

$$M_{a} \equiv \frac{1}{4} \frac{\langle p| \int dV \left[\frac{\beta}{2g}F^{2} + \gamma_{m}\overline{\psi}m\psi\right](x)|p\rangle}{\langle p|p\rangle},$$
(4.10)

with  $c_{m,a}$  two renormalization-scheme-dependent coefficients,  $\gamma_m$  the quark mass anomalous dimension,  $\beta$  the QCD beta function, and  $F^{\mu\nu}$  the gluon field strength tensor. From the tensor analysis perspective, we are unable to find any motivation for interpreting  $M_{q,g}$  as the quark/gluon kinetic and potential energies, as was proposed in refs. [3, 4]. Without a clear physical interpretation of  $M_q$  and  $M_g$ , the refinement (4.9) appears somewhat ad hoc, leading to the conclusion in ref. [5] that the introduction of  $M_m$  and  $M_a$  in the nucleon mass decomposition is in some sense arbitrary.

Contrary to the analysis of ref. [5], the derivation of the four-term energy decomposition of refs. [3, 4] did actually not start from a decomposition of the total EMT into quark and gluon contributions. Instead, the total EMT is first decomposed into

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \bar{T}^{\mu\nu} + \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (4.11)$$

where the traceless and trace parts are defined as

$$\bar{T}^{\mu\nu} \equiv T^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} g^{\mu\nu} T^{\lambda}{}_{\lambda},$$

$$\hat{T}^{\mu\nu} \equiv \frac{1}{4} g^{\mu\nu} T^{\lambda}{}_{\lambda}.$$
(4.12)

Working for convenience in the rest frame, the proper energy density is simply given by the  $\mu = \nu = 0$  component so that

$$T^{00} = \left(\frac{3}{4}T^{00} + \frac{1}{4}\sum_{i}T^{ii}\right) + \left(\frac{1}{4}T^{00} - \frac{1}{4}\sum_{i}T^{ii}\right)$$
(4.13)

following the decomposition in eq. (4.11). Using now the virial theorem (2.23) and the definition of mass (4.3), one concludes that the so-called "tensor" and "scalar" energies are given by

$$E_T \equiv \frac{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | \int d^3 x \, T^{00}(x) | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle}{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle} = \frac{3}{4} \, M,$$

$$E_S \equiv \frac{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | \int d^3 x \, \hat{T}^{00}(x) | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle}{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle} = \frac{1}{4} \, M.$$
(4.14)

In refs. [3, 4] the result (4.14) was obtained using eq. (2.20) and was interpreted as *analogous* to the virial theorem. In recent papers [8–10], the relation

$$E_T = 3 E_S \tag{4.15}$$

is now referred to as the "relativistic virial theorem", motivated by the observation that one can deduce from it the familiar non-relativistic expression  $2\langle \Psi | \mathcal{T} | \Psi \rangle = -\langle \Psi | \mathcal{V} | \Psi \rangle$  in the case of the positronium system in Coulomb gauge. Strictly speaking, this argument does not prove that eq. (4.15) is the actual relativistic virial theorem. It only indicates that eq. (4.15) contains the relativistic virial theorem. As stressed earlier, there is some confusion in the literature about what the virial theorem is in field theory. In order to clarify this point, we reviewed in appendix A its derivation in both classical and quantum mechanics, and we extended explicitly the derivation to QFT in section 2. The result for a closed system is given in eq. (2.23), and expresses the fact that the system is in mechanical equilibrium [5, 14–16]. As shown in section 2.3, the virial theorem is already contained in eq. (2.20) used to derive the relation (4.15). The latter should therefore be considered as a corollary of the relativistic virial theorem (2.23) rather than the virial theorem per se. Indeed, using the decomposition (4.11) and the virial theorem we have

$$\sum_{i} \frac{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | \int d^3x \, \bar{T}^{ii}(x) | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle}{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle} = -\sum_{i} \frac{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | \int d^3x \, \hat{T}^{ii}(x) | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle}{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle}.$$
(4.16)

Now, from the definition of the traceless and trace parts (4.12) it follows that

$$\sum_{i} \bar{T}^{ii}(x) = \bar{T}^{00}(x),$$

$$\sum_{i} \hat{T}^{ii}(x) = -3 \, \hat{T}^{00}(x),$$
(4.17)

leading then to eq. (4.15).

While the decomposition (4.11) can certainly be motivated by the fact that  $\bar{T}^{\mu\nu}$  and  $\hat{T}^{\mu\nu}$  do not mix under renormalization and Lorentz transformations, it comes at the price of mixing  $T^{00}$  and  $T^{ii}$  components, as clearly indicated by eq. (4.13). We have seen that the Lorentz-invariant definition of mass (4.3) requires only the four-momentum density operator  $T^{0\mu}$ . The stress tensor  $T^{ij}$  has nothing to do with mass, so introducing it in the mass decomposition means that one is mixing information about the proper energy content with the requirement of mechanical equilibrium [5]. This can be seen directly from the parametrization of the modern<sup>7</sup> four-term energy decomposition

$$M_{q} = \frac{3}{4} \left( a - \frac{b}{1 + \gamma_{m}} \right) M,$$

$$M_{g} = \frac{3}{4} \left( 1 - a \right) M,$$

$$M_{m} = \frac{b}{1 + \gamma_{m}} M,$$

$$M_{a} = \frac{1}{4} \left( 1 - \frac{b}{1 + \gamma_{m}} \right) M.$$

$$(4.18)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>In the original works [3, 4], the contribution arising from the anomalous quark mass dimension is attributed to  $H_m = \int d^3x \hat{T}_m^{00}(x)$ , while in the modern form it is part of  $H_a = \int d^3x \hat{T}_a^{00}(x)$ .

There are only two unknown numbers a and b (known as Ji's parameters) for four terms. There must therefore be two independent linear relations. One is obviously the mass sum rule (4.9). The other independent relation is

$$M_q + M_g = 3M_a, (4.19)$$

which follows from the virial theorem (2.23) and the definition of the *a* and *b* parameters<sup>8</sup> given in refs. [3, 4]

$$\langle p|\bar{T}_q^{\mu\nu}(0)|p\rangle = 2a\left(p^{\mu}p^{\nu} - \frac{1}{4}g^{\mu\nu}M^2\right),$$

$$(1+\gamma_m)\langle p|(\overline{\psi}m\psi)(0)|p\rangle = 2bM^2.$$
(4.20)

To sum up, there are *two* independent pieces of information encoded in the forward matrix elements of the EMT. One is the mass of the system encoded in the rest frame by the  $T^{00}$  component. The other is the virial theorem, which expresses the mechanical equilibrium of the system, encoded in the rest frame by the  $T^{ij}$  components. A genuine mass decomposition should not mix these two aspects. This is the case of the two-term energy decomposition (4.4) proposed in ref. [5] and its three-term refinement (4.6) found in [6, 7].

# 4.2 The role of the trace anomaly in the origin of the nucleon mass

As a response to criticisms of the four-term energy decomposition, in ref. [8] it was argued that "it is unclear what new insight can be brought to the understanding of the proton mass through the process of regrouping if any. To the contrary, this rearrangement stands to lose much". It was concluded that the two-term and three-term energy decompositions miss "the fundamental insight on the origin of the proton mass". By "fundamental insight", we believe the role played by the trace anomaly in the nucleon mass was meant. In this subsection we address this important point.

The trace of the EMT measures the breaking of dilatation symmetry due to the presence of mass scales in the theory. Mass scales are generally provided at the classical level by the constituent masses. At the quantum level, another scale appears through the process of renormalization leading to anomalous contributions to the trace of the EMT.

At the operator level, there is no connection between the trace of the EMT  $T^{\mu}_{\ \mu}$  and the mass of a physical state  $M^2 = P^{\mu}P_{\mu}$  with  $P^{\mu} = \int d^3x T^{0\mu}(x)$ . The connection can however be made at the level of expectation values in a stationary state  $|\Psi\rangle$  thanks to the virial theorem  $\langle \Psi | \int d^3x T^{ij}(x) | \Psi \rangle = 0$  which implies [25, 26]

$$M = \langle \Psi | \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, T^{\mu}_{\ \mu}(x) | \Psi \rangle. \tag{4.21}$$

In the literature the relation is in fact usually derived in terms of four-momentum eigenstates directly from the trace of eq. (2.20), leading to [1, 2]

$$\langle p|T^{\mu}_{\ \mu}(0)|p\rangle = 2M^2.$$
 (4.22)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Ji's parameters can be expressed in terms of the EMT form factors introduced in section 3.1. We have simply  $a = A_q(0)$ , while the relation for b is more complicated and depends on the renormalization scheme, see the discussion in section 5.1.

This derivation is manifestly Lorentz invariant but hides the fact that it implicitly makes use of the virial theorem, since eq. (2.20) can be obtained solely from Poincaré symmetry arguments. As a result of this relation, there seems to be a deeply-rooted idea that the trace anomaly must fundamentally be connected to the nucleon mass, and so one might expect it to appear *explicitly* in the mass budget. We stress however that this appearance can only be made through the use of the virial theorem, since matrix elements of  $\sum_i T^{ii}$  are necessarily involved. The virial theorem is useful because it allows one to relate the average value of different quantities, like e.g. the average kinetic and potential energies in point mechanics, and therefore to reexpress the total energy in a different way, see appendix A.2 for an example in Dirac theory. However, it does not provide any clue about the *actual* origin of mass.

One can also understand this from the point of view of dilatations. Note that the EMT can generally be interpreted as the response of the system to infinitesimal spacetime distortions  $x^{\mu} \mapsto x^{\mu} + \varepsilon \xi^{\mu}(x)$  [67]. Indeed, the corresponding variation of the action is given by

$$\delta S = \varepsilon \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, T^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \xi_\nu. \tag{4.23}$$

When the EMT is symmetric, we can write

$$\delta S = -\frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, T^{\mu\nu} \delta g_{\mu\nu} \tag{4.24}$$

because an infinitesimal spacetime distortion can be seen as a diffeomorphism under which the variation of the (symmetric) metric is given by  $\delta g_{\mu\nu} = -\varepsilon (\partial_{\mu}\xi_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu}\xi_{\mu})$ . It follows that temporal dilatations tell us something about the Hamiltonian and hence the mass of the system, while spatial dilatations lead to the virial theorem and tell us something about mechanical equilibrium. The trace anomaly, which is associated with isotropic spacetime dilatations, then necessarily combines these two independent aspects of a bound system.

So, we do not consider that writing

$$M = \langle \Psi | \int d^3x \, T^{00}(x) | \Psi \rangle = \langle \Psi | \int d^3x \left( T^{00} - \frac{1}{4} \, T^{\mu}_{\ \mu} \right)(x) | \Psi \rangle + \frac{1}{4} \, \langle \Psi | \int d^3x \, T^{\mu}_{\ \mu}(x) | \Psi \rangle$$
(4.25)

brings any fundamental insight into the question of the origin of the nucleon mass [5]. It is just a particular case of the more general relation

$$M = \langle \Psi | \int d^3x \left( T^{00} - \alpha T^{\mu}_{\ \mu} \right)(x) |\Psi\rangle + \alpha \langle \Psi | \int d^3x T^{\mu}_{\ \mu}(x) |\Psi\rangle$$
(4.26)

which is obviously true for any value of  $\alpha$ , independently of the virial theorem.

We repeat that for  $\alpha \neq 0$  the two terms in eq. (4.26) correspond to different combinations of EMT components, which is not a natural thing to do from the tensor analysis perspective since the individual terms would then correspond to different physical quantities rather than different contributions to the same physical quantity [5]. This is similar to what happens, e.g., in thermodynamics. One can define the notion of enthalpy H as the sum of internal energy U and pressure-volume work W = pV. However, one does usually not consider that the relation U = H - pV = (U + pV) - pV represents an actual decomposition of internal energy. As a final remark, we find it somewhat surprising that in section IV of ref. [8] it is argued that using the relation (2.22) for the first term of eq. (4.26) in the case  $\alpha = 1$  does not make a lot of sense physically, while in section II of the same paper the relation (2.22) is used in the case  $\alpha = 1/4$  to provide some alleged fundamental insight, namely the fact that 1/4 of the nucleon mass comes from the EMT trace. Once again, the main motivation for the choice  $\alpha = 1/4$  is that the two terms do not mix with each other under Lorentz transformations and renormalization, but *without* the virial theorem these terms have separately no clear relation to mass. Only the two-term (4.4) and three-term (4.6) energy decompositions make no use of the virial theorem, and can therefore be considered as genuine mass decompositions.

#### 4.3 Generalized mass decomposition

So far we insisted on the fact that each term appearing in a genuine mass decomposition should have the meaning of a contribution to proper energy. If we relax this requirement and simply demand that 1) the various terms have the dimension of energy and 2) the sum of the corresponding expectation values gives the mass of the system, then we are led to the concept of *generalized* mass decomposition, which allows one to treat within the same framework various decompositions proposed in the literature. For ease of presentation we will consider in this section only a decomposition of the EMT into quark and gluon contributions, so that each term of the corresponding generalized mass decomposition has the same expression in terms of form factors. It should however be kept in mind that further refinements similar to the ones leading to the three and four-term energy decompositions discussed in section 4.1 can naturally be considered.

For convenience, let us work in the nucleon rest frame where the total energy coincides with mass. We have already seen that once we have defined a decomposition of the EMT  $T^{\mu\nu} = \sum_{a} T^{\mu\nu}_{a}$ , a natural mass decomposition follows automatically by considering the matrix elements of  $T^{00}$  in the rest frame,

$$M = \sum_{a} \frac{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | \int d^3 x \, T_a^{00}(x) | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle}{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle} = \sum_{a} \left[ A_a(0) + \bar{C}_a(0) \right] M. \tag{4.27}$$

Combining this rest-frame energy decomposition with the virial theorem

$$0 = \sum_{a} \frac{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | \int d^3 x \, T_a^{ij}(x) | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle}{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle} = g^{ij} \sum_{a} \bar{C}_a(0) \, M, \tag{4.28}$$

and the fact that discrete spacetime symmetries imply

$$0 = \frac{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | \int d^3 x \, T_a^{0i}(x) | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle}{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle} = \frac{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | \int d^3 x \, T_a^{i0}(x) | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle}{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle}, \tag{4.29}$$

we can define a generalized mass decomposition as follows,

$$M = \sum_{a} \frac{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | \int d^3 x \, c_{\mu\nu} T_a^{\mu\nu}(x) | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle}{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle} = \sum_{a} \left[ A_a(0) + c^{\mu}{}_{\mu} \bar{C}_a(0) \right] M, \tag{4.30}$$

where the  $c_{\mu\nu}$  are arbitrary coefficients with the constraint  $c_{00} = 1$ . Some notable examples are:

- Energy decomposition:  $c_{\mu\nu} = g_{0\mu}g_{0\nu}$ ;
- Trace decomposition:  $c_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu}$ ;
- Enthalpy decomposition:  $c_{\mu\nu} = (4g_{0\mu}g_{0\nu} g_{\mu\nu})/3;$
- Tolman mass decomposition:  $c_{\mu\nu} = 2g_{0\mu}g_{0\nu} g_{\mu\nu};$
- Light-front momentum decomposition:  $c_{\mu\nu} = 2g_{-\mu}g_{-\nu}$ ;
- Light-front energy decomposition:  $c_{\mu\nu} = 2g_{-\mu}g_{+\nu}$ .

Defining mass as the rest-frame energy naturally leads to the energy decompositions discussed in refs. [3–7]. Mass being by definition a Lorentz scalar, some authors prefer to relate it to the trace of the EMT, see e.g. refs. [1, 2, 18, 68-70]. Since it is the enthalpy that forms together with the three-momentum a Lorentz four-vector in relativistic thermodynamics [71-73], one could also argue that mass is the proportionality factor between four-momentum and fourvelocity and hence consider an enthalpy decomposition instead of an energy decomposition. In the context of general relativity, defining the total mass of a system becomes an even more delicate problem owing to contributions associated with the gravitational field. Tolman mass is one of the standard notions of quasi-local mass commonly used because it has "the great advantage that it can be evaluated by integrating over the region occupied by matter or electromagnetic energy" [35, 74, 75]. In the context of high-energy scattering, it is particularly convenient to switch to light-front components defined as  $a^{\pm} = (a^0 \pm a^3)/\sqrt{2}$ , where the z-direction is the collision axis. In this formulation of relativistic dynamics, the little group is Galilean and the longitudinal light-front momentum plays in the (x, y)-plane the same role as mass does in the non-relativistic context [16, 46, 76, 77]. Finally, coming back to the fact that mass can be seen as the rest-frame energy and noting that light-front boosts are kinematical transformations, one may consider alternatively the light-front version of the energy decomposition discussed e.g. in refs. [16, 78].

We note that the generalized mass decomposition introduced in eq. (4.30) can easily be expressed in a Lorentz-invariant way according to

$$M = \sum_{a} \frac{\langle p | \int \mathrm{d}V \, c_{\mu\nu} T_a^{\mu\nu}(x) | p \rangle}{\langle p | p \rangle} = \sum_{a} \left[ A_a(0) + c^{\mu}{}_{\mu} \bar{C}_a(0) \right] M, \tag{4.31}$$

where  $dV = u^0 d^3 x$  is again the invariant proper volume element and the condition on the coefficients is now  $c_{\mu\nu}u^{\mu}u^{\nu} = 1$ . For the notable examples presented above, it suffices to apply the substitutions  $g_{0\mu} \mapsto u_{\mu}$  and  $g_{\pm\mu} \mapsto n_{\pm}/(n_{\pm} \cdot u)\sqrt{2}$  with  $n_{\pm} = (1, \pm u/|u|)$ . This shows that Poincaré symmetry alone does not lead to a unique generalized mass decomposition.

To sum up, while the genuine mass decomposition relies *only* on four-momentum conservation

$$\sum_{a} \frac{\langle p | \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, T_a^{0\mu}(x) | p \rangle}{\langle p | p \rangle} = p^{\mu},\tag{4.32}$$

a generalized mass decomposition requires the more general relation

$$\sum_{a} \frac{\langle p| \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, T_a^{\mu\nu}(x) | p \rangle}{\langle p| p \rangle} = \frac{p^{\mu} p^{\nu}}{p^0} \tag{4.33}$$

which includes the additional information of mechanical equilibrium expressed by the virial theorem (2.24). The proper physical interpretation of the contribution associated with subsystem a should therefore account for pressure effects when  $c^{\mu}{}_{\mu} \neq 1$  [5].

### 5 Operator structure of the energy decomposition

Mass decompositions are often motivated by their operator structures. Some controversy arose recently concerning the form of the renormalized EMT operator in QCD. We discuss in this section this important point, revisiting the structure of the operators in the MS and  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  schemes (hereafter, referred as MS-like schemes) in the framework of (conventional) DR. For a concise description of conventional DR as well as of other DR procedures we refer to appendix B, which is based on the original work of refs. [79–81]. We then review the operator structure of the different mass terms in the four-term energy decomposition proposed in ref. [4] and recently revised in refs. [6, 7]. Finally, we discuss the status of the so-called "quantum anomalous energy" put forward in the recent works [8–10].

# 5.1 Renormalized QCD energy-momentum tensor

The EMT is a sum of composite operators, i.e. products of fields and their derivatives evaluated at a single spacetime point. Composite operators are usually divergent in perturbation theory even after Lagrangian renormalization, and require therefore additional renormalization. MS-like renormalization schemes with DR appear to be particularly convenient, since it has been shown that almost all usual algebraic manipulations done at the level of unrenormalized operators remain valid in terms of the renormalized ones [81, 82]. Moreover, both Poincaré and gauge symmetries remain exact<sup>9</sup> in the intermediate steps. In the following, renormalized operators will be distinguished from unrenormalized ones by a label R.

Nielsen [83] showed long ago that the total EMT in QCD is finite and does not require additional renormalization, so that  $(T^{\mu\nu})_R = T^{\mu\nu}$ . Since the individual terms appearing in  $T^{\mu\nu}$  do not depend on the spacetime dimension d, it follows from the linearity property of MS-like renormalization schemes that [17, 18, 84, 85]

$$(T^{\mu\nu})_R = \left(\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\{\mu}\frac{i}{2}\overset{\leftrightarrow}{D}^{\nu\}}\psi\right)_R - (F^{\mu\lambda}F^{\nu}_{\ \lambda})_R + \frac{1}{4}g^{\mu\nu}(F^2)_R.$$
(5.1)

To keep the presentation simple, we omitted terms proportional to the equations of motion (EOM) and the gauge non-invariant ones since they do not contribute to the physical matrix elements. Note also that the vacuum expectation values are always implicitly subtracted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>One might naively think that in DR the four-dimensional spacetime is reduced to a *d*-dimensional one with d < 4, and hence that the original SO(1,3) symmetry is lost. In fact, in order to define non-integer dimensions, spacetime has to be extended to an infinite-dimensional space; see appendix B. The SO(1,3) symmetry is therefore preserved as a subgroup of a larger symmetry group.

The trace of the QCD EMT is also finite and takes the form [83, 86, 87]

$$g_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu}(T^{\mu\nu})_R = \frac{\beta}{2g} \, (F^2)_R + (1+\gamma_m)(\overline{\psi}m\psi)_R. \tag{5.2}$$

It differs from the classical trace  $g_{\mu\nu}T^{\mu\nu}_{\text{class}} = \overline{\psi}m\psi = (\overline{\psi}m\psi)_R$  by a term which is renormalization-group invariant and called the *trace anomaly* 

$$g_{\mu\nu}(T^{\mu\nu})_R - (\overline{\psi}m\psi)_R = \frac{\beta}{2g} \, (F^2)_R + \gamma_m(\overline{\psi}m\psi)_R. \tag{5.3}$$

Looking at the structure of the renormalized EMT (5.1), it is natural to define the renormalized quark and gluon contributions as

$$(T_q^{\mu\nu})_R = \left(\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\{\mu}\frac{i}{2}\overrightarrow{D}^{\nu\}}\psi\right)_R,$$
  

$$(T_g^{\mu\nu})_R = -(F^{\mu\lambda}F^{\nu}_{\ \lambda})_R + \frac{1}{4}g^{\mu\nu}(F^2)_R.$$
(5.4)

Since the trace of the QCD EMT is given by

$$g_{\mu\nu}(T^{\mu\nu})_R = g_{\mu\nu}(T_q^{\mu\nu})_R + g_{\mu\nu}(T_g^{\mu\nu})_R, \qquad (5.5)$$

we can write,<sup>10</sup> following the notation of refs. [17, 18],

$$g_{\mu\nu}(T_q^{\mu\nu})_R = x \, (F^2)_R + (1+y)(\overline{\psi}m\psi)_R, g_{\mu\nu}(T_g^{\mu\nu})_R = \left(\frac{\beta}{2g} - x\right) (F^2)_R + (\gamma_m - y)(\overline{\psi}m\psi)_R,$$
(5.6)

where x and y are finite numbers of order  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$  which parametrize how the anomalous contributions to the trace are shared between the quark and gluon parts of the EMT.

#### 5.2 Operator mixing

We sketch here the construction of the renormalized EMT operators in the MS-like schemes with DR as defined in appendix B, and we refer to [7, 17, 18, 84, 85] for more details. Renormalization through normal products (defining the finite part of composite operators) and the emergence of the anomaly in DR have both been studied long ago in refs. [81– 83, 86–89]. An explicit application to the O(N) nonlinear sigma model in  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  scheme is given in ref. [90].

The renormalized operators are obtained from a basis of bare composite operators  $O_i$  as follows,

$$(O_i)_R = \sum_j Z_{ij}O_j.$$
(5.7)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>One can in principle add a term  $\propto (\overline{\psi}_{\frac{i}{2}} \overset{\leftrightarrow}{D} \psi)_R$  on the right-hand side of both equations. It is however irrelevant because of the EOM.

As discussed in refs. [6, 7, 17, 18, 69, 85], the remormalization of the QCD EMT involves four independent operators  $O_i$  with i = q, g, F, m that mix through eq. (5.7) via 10 renormalization constants. Explicitly, one has the following system of equations

$$\begin{pmatrix} \left(\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\{\mu}\frac{i}{2}\overrightarrow{D}^{\nu\}}\psi\right)_{R} \\ -(F^{\mu\lambda}F^{\nu}_{\lambda})_{R} \\ g^{\mu\nu}(F^{2})_{R} \\ g^{\mu\nu}(\overline{\psi}m\psi)_{R} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} Z_{qq} \ Z_{qg} \ Z_{qF} \ Z_{qm} \\ Z_{gq} \ Z_{gg} \ Z_{gF} \ Z_{gm} \\ 0 \ 0 \ Z_{FF} \ Z_{Fm} \\ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \overline{\psi}\gamma^{\{\mu}\frac{i}{2}\overrightarrow{D}^{\nu\}}\psi \\ -F^{\mu\lambda}F^{\nu}_{\lambda} \\ g^{\mu\nu}F^{2} \\ g^{\mu\nu}\overline{\psi}m\psi \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.8)

where the operators with vanishing contribution to the physical matrix elements have consistently been omitted.

Thanks to Lorentz symmetry, one can alternatively regroup the operators to form scalar and symmetric traceless tensor representations of the Lorentz group which do not mix under renormalization. This amounts to changing the operator basis in such a way that the renormalization matrix in eq. (5.8) turns into a block-diagonal form, i.e.

$$\begin{pmatrix} \left(\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\{\mu}\frac{i}{2}\overrightarrow{D}^{\nu\}}\psi\right)_{R} - \frac{g^{\mu\nu}}{d}g_{\alpha\beta}\left(\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\{\alpha}\frac{i}{2}\overrightarrow{D}^{\beta\}}\psi\right)_{R} \\ -(F^{\mu\lambda}F^{\nu}{}_{\lambda})_{R} + \frac{g^{\mu\nu}}{d}g_{\alpha\beta}(F^{\alpha\lambda}F^{\beta}{}_{\lambda})_{R} \\ g^{\mu\nu}(F^{2})_{R} \\ g^{\mu\nu}(\overline{\psi}m\psi)_{R} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} Z_{qq} \ Z_{qg} \ 0 \ 0 \\ Z_{gq} \ Z_{gg} \ 0 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ Z_{FF} \ Z_{Fm} \\ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \overline{\psi}\gamma^{\{\mu}\frac{i}{2}\overrightarrow{D}^{\nu\}}\psi - \frac{g^{\mu\nu}}{d}g_{\alpha\beta}\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\{\alpha}\frac{i}{2}\overrightarrow{D}^{\beta\}}\psi \\ -F^{\mu\lambda}F^{\nu}{}_{\lambda} + \frac{g^{\mu\nu}}{d}g_{\alpha\beta}F^{\alpha\lambda}F^{\beta}{}_{\lambda} \\ g^{\mu\nu}\overline{\psi}m\psi \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.9)

By construction the renormalized operators remain finite in the limit  $d \rightarrow 4$ . As a result, we can safely express the traceless operators as on the l.h.s. of eq. (5.9) with d replaced by 4. Because of the linearity property of the renormalization (5.7), the two procedures in eqs. (5.8) and (5.9) are perfectly equivalent. There is therefore in practice no distinction between what the authors of ref. [10] call the "standard" and "non-standard" way of renormalizing operators. The only crucial point is that one has to be careful with the way of writing properly the renormalized traceless operators, an aspect that will be discussed in more detail in section 5.3.

The EMT renormalization constants in the MS-like schemes have been derived up to two and three loops in refs. [18, 69], and further discussed in refs. [6, 7, 17] in the context of various mass sum rules. In these schemes, using DR and  $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$ , the structure of the renormalization constants is

$$Z_{ij}\big|_{\rm MS} = \delta_{ij} + \alpha_s \, \frac{a_{ij,1}}{\epsilon} + \alpha_s^2 \left(\frac{b_{ij,2}}{\epsilon^2} + \frac{b_{ij,1}}{\epsilon}\right) + \alpha_s^3 \left(\frac{c_{ij,3}}{\epsilon^3} + \frac{c_{ij,2}}{\epsilon^2} + \frac{c_{ij,1}}{\epsilon}\right),\tag{5.10}$$

$$Z_{ij}\big|_{\overline{\mathrm{MS}}} = \delta_{ij} + \alpha_s \, \frac{\bar{a}_{ij,1}}{\epsilon} \, S_\epsilon + \alpha_s^2 \left(\frac{\bar{b}_{ij,2}}{\epsilon^2} + \frac{\bar{b}_{ij,1}}{\epsilon}\right) S_\epsilon^2 + \alpha_s^3 \left(\frac{\bar{c}_{ij,3}}{\epsilon^3} + \frac{\bar{c}_{ij,2}}{\epsilon^2} + \frac{\bar{c}_{ij,1}}{\epsilon}\right) S_\epsilon^3 \,, \quad (5.11)$$

where the finite quantity  $S_{\epsilon}$  can follow different conventions [91, 92], with an expansion in powers of  $\epsilon$  that differs at  $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$  and higher. We refrain from providing here the explicit

form of the renormalization factors, but they can be found in refs. [17, 18], and also in [7] in different  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  schemes. We notice that, formally, the MS renormalization factors can be obtained from the  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  ones by simply setting  $S_{\epsilon} = 1$ .

When dealing with tensor operators, one has to pay particular attention to the manipulation of the trace and renormalization operations since, in general, they do not commute [81, 89],

$$g_{\mu\nu}(O^{\mu\nu})_R \neq (g_{\mu\nu}O^{\mu\nu})_R.$$
 (5.12)

In DR, this arises from the fact that the trace operation may change the pole structure and hence the result of the normal product. The non-commutativity of these operations is a reflection of the trace anomaly. In some other renormalization schemes, like for instance BPHZ, these operations do commute but linearity is lost [81, 93]. The general message is that because of the trace anomaly it is impossible to preserve all the algebraic manipulations under renormalization. To clarify this point, we consider an explicit example. As outlined in appendix B, any DR scheme is well-defined only in perturbation theory and consists of replacing the four-dimensional loop integration with the map  $\mathcal{I}_d$ , and mapping all vectors from the (eventually Wick rotated) four-dimensional Minkowski space into the infinitelydimensional QS<sub>d</sub> space. We remind that relations among operators are usually understood as relations valid for the corresponding Green's functions. Indeed, the relation

has to be understood at the level of the matrix elements

$$g_{\mu\nu}\langle \overline{\psi}iD^{\mu}\gamma^{\nu}\psi\rangle = \langle \overline{\psi}iD\!\!\!/\psi\rangle. \tag{5.14}$$

For the bare operator, one has

$$g_{\mu\nu}T_q^{\mu\nu} = \overline{\psi}\frac{i}{2}\overleftrightarrow{p}\psi = \overline{\psi}m\psi.$$
(5.15)

For the renormalized operator, instead, one obtains, using eq. (5.8),

$$g_{\mu\nu}(T_q^{\mu\nu})_R = (Z_{qq} + d Z_{qm}) \overline{\psi} m \psi + (-Z_{qg} + d Z_{qF}) F^2, \qquad (5.16)$$

which can be written as

$$g_{\mu\nu}(T_q^{\mu\nu})_R = (1+c_1)\overline{\psi}m\psi + c_2F^2 = g_{\mu\nu}T_q^{\mu\nu} + c_1\overline{\psi}m\psi + c_2F^2, \qquad (5.17)$$

where both  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  start at  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s)$  in perturbation theory and are defined as

$$c_1 = Z_{qq} - 1 + d Z_{qm}, \quad c_2 = -Z_{qg} + d Z_{qF}.$$
(5.18)

The *total* contribution  $c_1 \overline{\psi} m \psi + c_2 F^2$  can be interpreted as a finite correction to the trace of the bare operator.<sup>11</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>A very similar example (with explicit one-loop calculations) is given in chapter 6.5 of ref. [81].

# 5.3 Symmetric traceless operators

It appears that there is some confusion in the literature about the form of the symmetric traceless operators. One reason is that many textbooks and papers do not spell out explicitly the trace terms and simply write

$$\bar{O}^{\mu\nu} \equiv O^{\{\mu\nu\}} - \text{trace.} \tag{5.19}$$

This lack of explicitness can be understood from the observation that, in the context of high-energy scatterings, one is often only interested in the specific light-front component  $T_a^{++}$ , representing the light-front density of longitudinal momentum. Since  $g^{++} = 0$ , one does not need to worry in this case about the explicit form of the trace terms. The problem arises however as soon as one considers components with a non-vanishing contribution from the metric, like e.g. the energy density  $T_a^{00}$ .

The unambiguous definition of the symmetric traceless part of a generic rank-two tensor operator in d-dimensional spacetime is

$$\bar{O}^{\mu\nu} \equiv O^{\{\mu\nu\}} - \frac{1}{d} g^{\mu\nu} g_{\alpha\beta} O^{\alpha\beta}.$$
(5.20)

In particular, for a renormalized operator the explicit expression is [94]

$$(\bar{O}^{\mu\nu})_R \equiv (O^{\{\mu\nu\}})_R - \frac{1}{d} g^{\mu\nu} g_{\alpha\beta} (O^{\alpha\beta})_R.$$
 (5.21)

This tensor is manifestly traceless irrespective of whether the trace and renormalization operations commute or not. Also, since the explicit d-dependence appears outside of the normal product, we can safely replace d by 4.

Renormalization should preserve Lorentz symmetry, and so operators belonging to different representations of the Lorentz group should not mix with each other. We can therefore write [95]

$$(\bar{O}_i^{\mu\nu})_R = \sum_j Z_{ij} \bar{O}_j^{\mu\nu} \tag{5.22}$$

which is obviously compatible by linearity with eqs. (5.7), (5.20) and (5.21). The standard shorthand notation  $(\bar{O}_i^{\mu\nu})_R$  is however somewhat misleading, because it gives an incentive to write

$$(\bar{O}^{\mu\nu})_R = \left(O^{\{\mu\nu\}} - \frac{1}{d}g^{\mu\nu}g_{\alpha\beta}O^{\alpha\beta}\right)_R,\tag{5.23}$$

an expression which must be treated with great care. For example, while renormalized operators are by construction finite in the limit  $d \to 4$ , one should in general refrain from replacing directly d by 4 in eq. (5.23). Indeed, in MS-like schemes with DR the notation  $(O)_R$  means that one removes the contributions of the operator O which diverge as  $d \to 4$ . The latter limit must then be considered at the very end of a calculation and cannot be applied directly to the expression inside the brackets in eq. (5.23). For the same reason, one must also pay attention that in general

$$(\bar{O}^{\mu\nu})_R \neq (O^{\{\mu\nu\}})_R - \frac{1}{d} g^{\mu\nu} (g_{\alpha\beta} O^{\alpha\beta})_R$$
 (5.24)

because of eq. (5.12).

As a result of the above discussion, the renormalized symmetric traceless quark and gluon operators are unambiguously given by [17, 18, 84, 85]

$$(\bar{T}_{q}^{\mu\nu})_{R} = \left(\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\{\mu}\frac{i}{2}\overrightarrow{D}^{\nu\}}\psi\right)_{R} - \frac{g^{\mu\nu}}{4}g_{\alpha\beta}\left(\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\{\alpha}\frac{i}{2}\overrightarrow{D}^{\beta\}}\psi\right)_{R},$$

$$(\bar{T}_{g}^{\mu\nu})_{R} = -(F^{\mu\lambda}F^{\nu}{}_{\lambda})_{R} + \frac{g^{\mu\nu}}{4}g_{\alpha\beta}(F^{\alpha\lambda}F^{\beta}{}_{\lambda})_{R},$$
(5.25)

and can alternatively be expressed as

$$(\bar{T}_{q}^{\mu\nu})_{R} = \left(\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\{\mu}\frac{i}{2}\overrightarrow{D}^{\nu\}}\psi\right)_{R} - \frac{g^{\mu\nu}}{4}\left[x\,(F^{2})_{R} + (1+y)(\overline{\psi}m\psi)_{R}\right],$$

$$(\bar{T}_{g}^{\mu\nu})_{R} = -(F^{\mu\lambda}F^{\nu}_{\ \lambda})_{R} + \frac{g^{\mu\nu}}{4}\left[\left(1+x-\frac{\beta}{2g}\right)(F^{2})_{R} + (y-\gamma_{m})(\overline{\psi}m\psi)_{R}\right],$$
(5.26)

using eq. (5.6). One could also formally write

$$(\bar{T}_{q}^{\mu\nu})_{R} = \lim_{d \to 4} \left( \overline{\psi} \gamma^{\{\mu \frac{i}{2}} \overset{\leftrightarrow}{D}^{\nu\}} \psi - \frac{g^{\mu\nu}}{d} \overline{\psi} m \psi \right)_{R},$$

$$(\bar{T}_{g}^{\mu\nu})_{R} = \lim_{d \to 4} \left( -F^{\mu\lambda} F^{\nu}{}_{\lambda} + \frac{g^{\mu\nu}}{d} F^{2} \right)_{R}.$$
(5.27)

Once again, it is essential that the limit  $d \rightarrow 4$  is taken *after* minimal subtraction.

Based on their explicit operator expressions in MS-like scheme with DR, we conclude that there is in general no simple physical interpretation for  $(\bar{T}_q^{00})_R$  or  $(\bar{T}_g^{00})_R$ . We discuss in the following the consequences for the energy decomposition.

#### 5.4 Energy decomposition

Following the approach of the original works on the nucleon mass decomposition [3, 4], the total renormalized EMT can be obtained by adding the renormalized traceless and trace parts

$$(T^{\mu\nu})_R = (\bar{T}^{\mu\nu})_R + \frac{g^{\mu\nu}}{4} g_{\alpha\beta}(T^{\alpha\beta})_R.$$
 (5.28)

Using the incentive form for the renormalized traceless operators given in eq. (5.27), we get explicitly

$$(T^{\mu\nu})_{R} = \lim_{d \to 4} \left( \overline{\psi} \gamma^{\{\mu} \frac{i}{2} \overrightarrow{D}^{\nu\}} \psi - \frac{g^{\mu\nu}}{d} \overline{\psi} m \psi \right)_{R} + \lim_{d \to 4} \left( -F^{\mu\lambda} F^{\nu}{}_{\lambda} + \frac{g^{\mu\nu}}{d} F^{2} \right)_{R} + \frac{1}{4} g^{\mu\nu} \left[ \frac{\beta}{2g} (F^{2})_{R} + (1 + \gamma_{m}) (\overline{\psi} m \psi)_{R} \right].$$
(5.29)

In order to obtain a decomposition of energy at the operator level, we consider  $(T^{00})_R$  and integrate over space. Following the original derivation [3, 4], the QCD Hamiltonian

$$H = H_T + H_S \tag{5.30}$$

has been decomposed into a traceless (tensor) and trace (scalar) part as [8]

$$H_T \equiv \int d^3 x \, (\bar{T}^{00})_R = (H_q + H_g) + \frac{3}{4} H_m,$$
  

$$H_S \equiv \frac{1}{4} \int d^3 x \, g_{\alpha\beta}(T^{\alpha\beta})_R = H_a + \frac{1}{4} H_m,$$
(5.31)

where

$$H_{a} = \frac{1}{4} \int d^{3}x \left[ \frac{\beta}{2g} (F^{2})_{R} + \gamma_{m} (\overline{\psi} m \psi)_{R} \right],$$

$$H_{m} = \int d^{3}x (\overline{\psi} m \psi)_{R},$$

$$H_{q} + H_{g} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int d^{3}x \left( \psi^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot i\boldsymbol{D} \, \psi + \frac{2 - 2\epsilon}{4 - 2\epsilon} \, \boldsymbol{E}^{2} + \frac{2}{4 - 2\epsilon} \, \boldsymbol{B}^{2} \right)_{R}$$
(5.32)

are three contributions that are separately renormalization group invariant. The expansion of the last contribution in powers of  $\epsilon$  gives

$$H_q + H_g = \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \left\{ (\psi^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot i \boldsymbol{D} \psi)_R + \frac{(\boldsymbol{E}^2 + \boldsymbol{B}^2)_R}{2} - \frac{1}{4} \left[ \frac{\beta}{2g} (F^2)_R + \gamma_m (\overline{\psi} m \psi)_R \right] \right\}, \quad (5.33)$$

using the linearity property of MS-like scheme and the trace anomaly relation [83, 86, 87]

$$\epsilon(\boldsymbol{E}^2 - \boldsymbol{B}^2) = -\frac{\epsilon}{2} F^2 = \frac{\beta}{2g} (F^2)_R + \gamma_m(\overline{\psi}m\psi)_R.$$
(5.34)

In conclusion,  $(H_q + H_g)$  contains an anomalous contribution which compensates exactly  $H_a$  in eq. (5.31). No anomalous contribution survives therefore in the energy budget, which is then composed of three terms instead of four [6, 7]

$$H = \tilde{H}_q + \tilde{H}_q + H_m, \tag{5.35}$$

with

$$\widetilde{H}_q = \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, (\psi^\dagger \,\boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot i\boldsymbol{D} \,\psi)_R = \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, (T_q^{00})_R - H_m,$$
  

$$\widetilde{H}_g = \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, \frac{(\boldsymbol{E}^2 + \boldsymbol{B}^2)_R}{2} = \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, (T_g^{00})_R.$$
(5.36)

This structure follows also directly from eq. (5.1) without the need of decomposing first the EMT into traceless and trace parts. Moreover, one can safely interpret  $\tilde{H}_q$  and  $\tilde{H}_g$  as the quark and gluon kinetic+potential energies, in agreement with the tensor analysis approach.

#### 5.5 Diagonal schemes

While agreeing formally with the results of the previous section, the authors of ref. [10] complained that

$$(T_g^{00})_R = -(F^{0\lambda}F_{\lambda}^0)_R + \frac{1}{4}(F^2)_R = (\mathbf{E}^2)_R + \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{B}^2 - \mathbf{E}^2)_R = \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{E}^2 + \mathbf{B}^2)_R \qquad (5.37)$$

mixes the tensor and scalar representations of the Lorentz group, and claimed that the notation  $\frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{E}^2 + \mathbf{B}^2)_R$  has commonly been reserved for  $(\bar{T}_g^{00})_R$  and not  $(T_g^{00})_R$ , referring to the works [68, 96]. Our opinion is that the latter statement is a misrepresentation of what can be found in the literature. In both papers [68, 96] the renormalized traceless gluon operator indeed appears in its classical form, but we observe that neither the corresponding quark operator nor the renormalization scheme are specified. These works are in fact inspired by an old seminal paper of Voloshin and Zakharov [97], where it is suggested that one can measure the gluonic part of the trace anomaly using quarkonia. It turns out that

Voloshin and Zakharov used the relation  $g_{\mu\nu}g_{\alpha\beta}(F^{\mu\alpha}F^{\nu\beta})_R = (F^2)_R$  to derive a low-energy theorem. This indicates that they are not working in a MS-like renormalization scheme but in another one where  $(\bar{T}_g^{\mu\nu})_R = (T_g^{\mu\nu})_R$ , so that the EMT trace (including the anomalous contributions) arises solely from the quark sector  $g_{\mu\nu}(T^{\mu\nu})_R = g_{\mu\nu}(T_q^{\mu\nu})_R$ . Other choices have also been made in the literature. For example, in a comment to ref. [97], Novikov and Shifman [98] wrote the total renormalized gluon EMT  $(T_g^{\mu\nu})_R$  in the classical form, in agreement with eq. (5.4) and refs. [99, 100], but they required that the trace is given by  $g_{\mu\nu}(T_g^{\mu\nu})_R = \frac{\beta_F}{2g}(F^2)_R$ , where  $\beta_F$  is the contribution to the beta function arising from gluon loops only. This indicates that yet a different renormalization scheme has been chosen.<sup>12</sup> This example shows the importance of clearly specifying the renormalization scheme, for otherwise a comparison between different works may lead to apparent contradictions.

When discussing the form of the gluon operators and their properties, one must not forget the quark sector. We have seen that in MS-like schemes the traces of the quark and gluon contributions to the EMT (5.6) involve some mixing parametrized by two finite numbers x and y. It follows from the unambiguous definition (5.21) that the renormalized traceless quark and gluon operators can also be expressed in a way that involves explicitly x and y, see eq. (5.26). The values of these parameters are directly determined by the renormalization factors. Their explicit expressions in MS-like schemes with DR can be found in refs. [7, 17, 18, 69]. They are quite cumbersome and indicate that due to operator mixing the trace anomaly is shared in a nontrivial way between the quark and gluon contributions.

Simpler expressions for the renormalized operators can however be obtained by applying a finite renormalization to the MS-like operators. The only effect of this finite renormalization will be to reshuffle the anomalous contributions between  $g_{\mu\nu}(T_q^{\mu\nu})_R$  and  $g_{\mu\nu}(T_g^{\mu\nu})_R$ , i.e. changing the values of x and y. The total anomaly remains however unchanged. It is through such a finite renormalization that one can connect in principle the operators in MS-like schemes with DR to the ones discussed in refs. [68, 96–98].

The so-called diagonal schemes [6, 7] keep the mixing between quark and gluon operators under the trace operation as simple as possible. We present here three of the most meaningful choices:

• D1 scheme — One may choose a scheme where the quark and gluon operators do not mix under the trace operation [6]. It corresponds to the choice x = 0 and  $y = \gamma_m$  so that

$$g_{\mu\nu}(T_q^{\mu\nu})_{D1} = (1+\gamma_m)(\psi m\psi)_R,$$
  

$$g_{\mu\nu}(T_g^{\mu\nu})_{D1} = \frac{\beta}{2q} (F^2)_R,$$
(5.38)

which was the situation considered in ref. [5], allowing one to identify the quark and gluon contributions to the EMT trace used in refs. [3, 4] with the corresponding traces of the quark and gluon contributions to the EMT.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Adding to the confusion, in a recent paper [101] the temporal component of the gluon part of the QCD EMT is denoted  $T_g^{00} = \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{E}^2 + \mathbf{B}^2)$  with a reference to the work of Novikov and Shifman [98], while at the same time it is presented as a 2<sup>++</sup> gluon operator, i.e. a symmetric traceless tensor, like in the work of Voloshin and Zakharov [97].

•  $D2 \ scheme$  — Since the whole anomaly  $\left[\frac{\beta}{2g}(F^2)_R + \gamma_m(\overline{\psi}m\psi)_R\right]$  and  $(\overline{\psi}m\psi)_R$  are separately renormalization-group invariant, one may prefer to work with  $x = y \frac{\beta}{2g\gamma_m}$ . The D2 scheme introduced in ref. [7] corresponds to the choice x = y = 0 and attributes all the anomalous terms to the renormalized gluon contribution to the EMT,

$$g_{\mu\nu}(T_q^{\mu\nu})_{\mathrm{D2}} = (\overline{\psi}m\psi)_R,$$
  

$$g_{\mu\nu}(T_g^{\mu\nu})_{\mathrm{D2}} = \frac{\beta}{2g} (F^2)_R + \gamma_m(\overline{\psi}m\psi)_R.$$
(5.39)

• D3 scheme — For completeness, we mention a third possibility corresponding to the choice  $x = \frac{\beta}{2q}$  and  $y = \gamma_m$ ,

$$g_{\mu\nu}(T_q^{\mu\nu})_{\mathrm{D3}} = \frac{\beta}{2g} \, (F^2)_R + (1+\gamma_m)(\overline{\psi}m\psi)_R,$$
  

$$g_{\mu\nu}(T_g^{\mu\nu})_{\mathrm{D3}} = 0,$$
(5.40)

which attributes all the anomalous terms to the renormalized quark contribution to the EMT.

# 5.6 "Quantum anomalous energy"

In a series of recent papers [8–10], the concept of "quantum anomalous energy" (QAE) has been emphasized as a key aspect of the nucleon mass structure. QAE finds its origin in the four-term energy decomposition proposed in refs. [3, 4], where it has been argued that in MS-like renormalization with DR the QCD Hamiltonian takes the form

$$H = \int d^3x \left[ (\psi^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot i\boldsymbol{D} \psi)_R + (\overline{\psi}m\psi)_R + \frac{(\boldsymbol{E}^2 + \boldsymbol{B}^2)_R}{2} \right] + \frac{1}{4} \int d^3x \left[ \frac{\beta}{2g} (F^2)_R + \gamma_m (\overline{\psi}m\psi)_R \right].$$
(5.41)

It seems therefore that the renormalized QCD Hamiltonian receives on top of its classical form a new contribution equal to a quarter of the trace anomaly. This contribution is unexpected and referred to as QAE.

The analysis of refs. [3, 4] has been revisited in refs. [6, 7] with the new conclusion that no anomalous contributions actually survive in the Hamiltonian; see our discussion in section 5.4. The difference between these two analyses can be traced back to the renormalized traceless operators. While those operators did not appear explicitly in the original works [3, 4], their precise form used in the context of the four-term decomposition has been specified in a recent work [8]. Contrary to eq. (5.27), it appears that the  $d \rightarrow 4$ limit is taken *before* the normal product, giving the impression that the traceless operators can be written in the same way as in the classical case. As stressed in section 5.3, this is an incorrect notation since it assumes that trace and renormalization are commuting operations, a property that is not satisfied in general in MS-like schemes with DR.

Writing the renormalized QCD EMT as a sum of a traceless part with classical form and a trace part with anomalous contributions like in refs. [3, 4, 8-10] may seem a priori

attractive, since it gives the impression that the anomaly is distributed equally between the diagonal components of the EMT. As a result, the Hamiltonian  $H = \int d^3x (T^{00})_R$  is expected to provide a quarter of the trace anomaly, considered in these papers as a "new" form of energy. This picture is however inconsistent with Poincaré symmetry. Indeed, time translation is an *exact* symmetry of the theory. The form of the corresponding generator, i.e. the Hamiltonian, must then be the same as in the classical case as a consequence of the quantum action principle [81, 82].

As indicated by its name, the trace anomaly is a pure quantum contribution associated with the trace of the EMT, and not with its individual diagonal components. It expresses the breaking of spacetime dilatations, and not a breaking of spacetime translations. At the operator level, the trace anomaly has nothing to do with the Hamiltonian. Motivated by Lorentz symmetry and deep-inelastic scattering experiments,<sup>13</sup> one may of course decompose the Hamiltonian into tensor and scalar parts as in eq. (5.30), but this does not bring much fundamental insight since it just amounts to writing the Hamiltonian as

$$H = (H - H_S) + H_S, (5.42)$$

where  $H_S$  contains anomalous contributions (see eq. (5.31)) while H does not. As already stressed in section 4.2, the only way to relate non-trivially the Hamiltonian, and hence the mass of a system, to the trace anomaly is at the level of matrix elements. Indeed, the virial theorem (2.23) tells us that the expectation value of the stress tensor must vanish at rest. As a result, we can write

$$M = \frac{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | \int d^3 x \, (T^{00})_R(x) | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle}{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle} = \frac{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | \int d^3 x \, g_{\mu\nu}(T^{\mu\nu})_R(x) | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle}{\langle p_{\text{rest}} | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle}, \tag{5.43}$$

which leads to the relation [6, 7]

$$\langle p_{\text{rest}} | (\psi^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot i \boldsymbol{D} \psi)_{R} + \frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{E}^{2} + \boldsymbol{B}^{2})_{R} | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle = \langle p_{\text{rest}} | \gamma_{m} (\overline{\psi} m \psi)_{R} + \frac{\beta}{2g} (F^{2})_{R} | p_{\text{rest}} \rangle.$$
(5.44)

It is then clear that one can have a mass sum rule with contributions from *either* the parton energies *or* the anomaly, but a sum rule with both contributions at the same time does not appear naturally.

In summary, the renormalized Hamiltonian in QCD does not contain anomalous contributions since it is protected by translation symmetry. The so-called QAE given by the expectation value of  $H_a$ , defined as a quarter of the trace anomaly and appearing in the "scalar" part of the Hamiltonian, does not provide clear fundamental insight since it is exactly compensated by the same contribution with opposite sign from the "tensor" part of the Hamiltonian. The latter does not appear in refs. [3, 4, 8–10] due to an unjustified notation for the renormalized traceless operators in MS-like scheme with DR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>We remind that in high-energy scattering experiments, one is mostly sensitive to the light-front component  $(T^{++})_R$  of the EMT. One can then use Lorentz symmetry to relate the matrix elements of  $(T^{++})_R$  to those of  $(\bar{T}^{\mu\nu})_R$ . The fact that the anomalous contributions do not appear in  $(T^{++})_R$  as a consequence of  $g^{++} = 0$  does not however imply that they should also be absent in  $(\bar{T}^{\mu\nu})_R$ .

#### 6 EMT decomposition on the lattice

Recent papers [8–10] try to justify the appearance of QAE in the nucleon mass budget based on some works by Rothe [102, 103] in the context of lattice QCD (LQCD). It appears that the question of the Hamiltonian in LQCD is an old and difficult problem. Contrary to DR, lattice regularization allows one to renormalize the theory in a non-perturbative way. On the other hand, Poincaré symmetry is broken by the introduction of a finite lattice spacing. One must therefore pay particular attention that in the limit of vanishing lattice spacing the Poincaré symmetry is correctly recovered. It also means that one has to be careful with the physical interpretation of lattice expressions, since the breaking of Poincaré symmetry by the regulator generates artifacts, especially in currents associated with spacetime symmetries like the EMT. Unfortunately, this essential aspect of the problem has not been considered in refs. [8–10]. We show in the following that taking it into account sheds light on the results presented in these papers, and leads to the conclusion that the relevant LQCD papers actually do not provide concrete support for the concept of QAE.

#### 6.1 Lattice sum rules

Using the Wilson action [104], Michael found that the glueball mass can be expressed as [105, 106]

$$M = \frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\beta}}{\mathrm{d}\ln a} \sum \Box,\tag{6.1}$$

where a is the symmetric lattice spacing,  $\hat{\beta} = 2N/g_0^2$  is the bare lattice coupling parameter for the SU(N) gauge sector of the theory, and  $\sum \Box$  is the plaquette action in a one glueball state (with the vacuum value implicitly subtracted) summed over all plaquettes at one time slice. In the naive continuum limit, one can basically write

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\beta}}{\mathrm{d}\ln a} \to \frac{2\beta(g_0)}{g_0} \hat{\beta},$$

$$\hat{\beta} \sum \Box \to \langle \Psi | \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, \frac{1}{4} \, F^2(x) | \Psi \rangle,$$
(6.2)

so that eq. (6.1) can be interpreted as the lattice version of eq. (4.21). We will denote this as

$$M = \frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\beta}}{\mathrm{d}\ln a} \sum \Box \sim \langle \Psi | \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, T^{\mu}_{\ \mu}(x) | \Psi \rangle. \tag{6.3}$$

As clearly shown by a recent variation of Michael's derivation [10], the fact that one gets an expression for the mass in terms of the EMT trace follows from an isotropic lattice scaling transformation.

Further relations can be obtained by considering asymmetric lattices. Following the formalism of ref. [107], a different lattice coupling parameter  $\hat{\beta}_{\mu\nu}$  must be attributed to the different plaquette orientations  $\Box_{\mu\nu}$ . In the case where one distinguishes the temporal spacing  $a_0 = a_t$  from the isotropic spatial spacing  $a_1 = a_2 = a_3 = a_s$ , Michael arrived at

the following two sum rules [105, 106],

$$M = \sum (3S \square_t + 3U \square_s) \sim \langle \Psi | \int d^3x \, T^{00}(x) | \Psi \rangle, \tag{6.4}$$

$$0 = \sum \left[ (2U+S) \Box_t + (2S+U) \Box_s \right] \sim \langle \Psi | \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, T^{ii}(x) | \Psi \rangle, \tag{6.5}$$

where  $\Box_t = \Box_{0i}$  and  $\Box_s = \Box_{ij}$  with  $i, j \neq 0$ . The coefficients S and U are defined at the symmetric point  $a_t = a_s = a$  by

$$\frac{\partial \hat{\beta}_{\mu\nu}}{\partial \ln a_{\lambda}} = S \quad \text{if} \quad \lambda = \mu \quad \text{or} \quad \lambda = \nu, 
\frac{\partial \hat{\beta}_{\mu\nu}}{\partial \ln a_{\lambda}} = U \quad \text{if} \quad \lambda \neq \mu \quad \text{and} \quad \lambda \neq \nu.$$
(6.6)

Since eq. (6.4) is associated with temporal dilatations, it can be interpreted as the lattice version of the energy sum rule [8-10]. Similarly, we observe that eq. (6.5) is associated with spatial dilatations and can therefore be interpreted as the lattice version of the virial theorem.

Combining eqs. (6.4) and (6.5), Michael found two alternative expressions for the glueball mass

$$M = \sum 2 \left( S + U \right) \left( 3 \Box_t + 3 \Box_s \right) \sim \langle \Psi | \int d^3 x \, T^{\mu}_{\ \mu}(x) | \Psi \rangle, \tag{6.7}$$

$$M = \sum \frac{2}{3} (S - U) (3 \Box_t - 3 \Box_s) \sim \frac{4}{3} \langle \Psi | \int d^3 x \, \bar{T}^{00}(x) | \Psi \rangle.$$
 (6.8)

Using the relation obtained by Karsch [107]

$$2(S+U) = \frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\beta}}{\mathrm{d}\ln a} \tag{6.9}$$

and  $\Box = 3 \Box_t + 3 \Box_s$ , we see that eq. (6.7) derived from asymmetric lattices and evaluated at the symmetric point is consistent with eq. (6.3) obtained directly from symmetric lattices. In the weak-coupling limit  $\hat{\beta} \to \infty$ , one finds [107]

$$2(S-U) \approx -4\hat{\beta} \,, \tag{6.10}$$

so that one can write [106]

$$M \approx \frac{4}{3} \sum \hat{\beta}(-3 \Box_t + 3 \Box_s) \sim \frac{4}{3} \langle \Psi | \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, \bar{T}^{00}(x) | \Psi \rangle. \tag{6.11}$$

In the naive continuum limit, the lattice plaquettes are identified with the chromoelectric and chromomagnetic contributions to field energy

$$\sum \hat{\beta}(-3 \square_t) \to \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, \frac{E^2(x)}{2},$$

$$\sum \hat{\beta}(3 \square_s) \to \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, \frac{B^2(x)}{2}.$$
(6.12)

We remind that the sign change in the chromoelectric contribution comes from the transition from Euclidean space to Minkowski space. Using this identification, it appears that the classical form of field energy provides only 3/4 of the glueball mass [103, 106]. Massaging a bit the energy sum rule (6.4), one has

$$M = \sum \left[ \frac{U-S}{2} \left( -3 \Box_t + 3 \Box_s \right) + \frac{U+S}{2} \left( 3 \Box_t + 3 \Box_s \right) \right] \sim \langle \Psi | \int d^3 x \, T^{00}(x) | \Psi \rangle$$
$$\approx \sum \left[ \hat{\beta} \left( -3 \Box_t + 3 \Box_s \right) + \frac{1}{4} \frac{d\hat{\beta}}{d \ln a} \left( 3 \Box_t + 3 \Box_s \right) \right]. \tag{6.13}$$

In the naive continuum limit, Rothe concluded that the missing 1/4 of the glueball mass comes from the trace anomaly, in apparent agreement with the analysis of refs. [3, 4]. The recent works [8–10] present a variation of this discussion and use it as a support to the concept of QAE.

This result, however, has to be considered with a grain of salt, since it relies on both the weak-coupling limit (6.10) and the naive continuum limit (6.12). Non-perturbative evaluations at finite temperature of the combination 2(S - U) show in fact significant deviations from the weak-coupling value [108–110]. This suggests that in general the classical form of field energy on the lattice does not provide exactly 3/4 of the glueball mass, and indicates that the lattice operators must be renormalized. This is to be expected since  $(-3 \Box_t + 3 \Box_s)$  is not a Noether charge due to the breaking of Poincaré symmetry on the lattice, where the hypercubic symmetry typically leads to more complicated mixing patterns than in the continuum [56, 110–113]. In particular, the chromoelectric and chromomagnetic contributions to the field energy mix under renormalization [114, 115], invalidating therefore the naive continuum limit interpretation (6.12).

In conclusion, contrary to the suggestion of refs. [8–10] a careful inspection reveals that the lattice energy sum rule does not provide a clear support to the concept of QAE. In particular, it is essential to consider the renormalization of the lattice operators before providing any physical interpretation. (Note that  $E^2$  and  $B^2$  in eq. (6.12) do not have the same meaning as the corresponding renormalized operators in the continuum.) This is crucial for the components of the EMT since the breaking of Poincaré symmetry on the lattice is a source of artifacts, as we will see in the following.

# 6.2 Translation symmetry

How to construct the EMT on the lattice is a tough question that has been studied for over 30 years [60–62, 84, 85, 90, 111, 116–126]. For recent investigations of the hadron mass structure on the lattice see also refs. [65, 66, 127–129]. A major difficulty is that lattice regularization breaks translation symmetry and makes the construction and renormalization of the EMT non-trivial. In particular, it turns out that any discretization of the classical EMT, denoted  $T_{\text{tree}}^{\mu\nu}$ , is not conserved in the quantum theory [111, 116–119],

$$\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu}_{\text{tree}} = R^{\nu} + X^{\nu}. \tag{6.14}$$

Here  $R^{\nu}$  is proportional to the lattice EOM and  $X^{\nu}$  is an operator that formally vanishes when the lattice spacing *a* tends to zero. Because of radiative corrections,  $X^{\nu}$  provides however finite contributions when inserted into Green's functions. It vanishes for zero external momentum transfer and can thus be rewritten as  $X^{\nu} = -\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu}_{\text{corr}}$ . The conserved EMT on the lattice is therefore defined as

$$T^{\mu\nu} = T^{\mu\nu}_{\rm tree} + T^{\mu\nu}_{\rm corr}.$$
 (6.15)

The correction term  $T_{\rm corr}^{\mu\nu}$  ensures that the translational Ward identities are satisfied. At the same time it ensures that the trace anomaly is correctly reproduced.<sup>14</sup> The fact that the classical expression for the EMT must be corrected is consistent with the general observation that once a genuine symmetry is broken by the regulator, one should expect to see the appearance of additional symmetry-restoring counterterms [130–133].

In the recent work [10], the mass structure of a (1 + 1)-dimensional non-linear sigma model in the large-N limit is studied at the one-loop level. It is found that the operator form of the total Hamiltonian  $H = \int d^3x T^{00}(x)$  depends on the choice of regularization scheme. In particular, the classical Hamiltonian  $H_c = \int d^3x T^{00}_{\text{tree}}(x)$  is regulator-dependent and has no universal physical meaning. The authors observe that in symmetric regularization schemes, where all directions are treated equally, the classical Hamiltonian coincides with the traceless part  $H_T = \int d^3x \bar{T}^{00}(x)$ , while in regularization schemes where the energy integral can be rescaled back and forth (like e.g. dimensional regularization) the classical Hamiltonian coincides with the total Hamiltonian.

These results can easily be understood from the point of view of translation symmetry. Regularization schemes where the energy integral can be rescaled back and forth are precisely those preserving translation symmetry in the temporal direction. It should therefore not be surprising that the total Hamiltonian takes the same form as in the classical theory, since this is a mere consequence of the quantum action principle [81, 82]. More generally, it has been argued that translational Ward identities obtained with a cutoff procedure preserving Poincaré symmetry cannot contain anomalies [20, 134]. On the other hand, when translation invariance in the temporal direction is broken by the regulator, the total Hamiltonian must necessarily involve additional contributions like in eq. (6.15) to restore translation symmetry. These correction terms should be regarded as mere artifacts arising due to a poor choice of symmetry-breaking regulator, and not as genuine physical contributions.<sup>15</sup> They must disappear in the process of renormalization to comply with Poincaré symmetry and the quantum action principle.

The authors of ref. [10] observed that the one-loop contribution to the classical Hamiltonian vanishes only in symmetric regularization schemes. In other schemes, the naively vanishing integral gives a finite contribution because of the asymmetric regulator, which has been interpreted as a sign of their anomalous nature. In particular, in DR the one-loop integral takes the form

$$\int \frac{\mathrm{d}k_4 \,\mathrm{d}^{1-2\epsilon} k_1}{(2\pi)^{2-2\epsilon}} \,\frac{k_4^2 - k_1^2}{(k^2 + m^2)^2} = \frac{\epsilon}{1-\epsilon} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{2-2\epsilon} k}{(2\pi)^{2-2\epsilon}} \,\frac{k^2}{(k^2 + m^2)^2}.\tag{6.16}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Interestingly, a similar structure was found in ref. [130] using Fujikawa's method to derive the trace anomaly from a path-integral approach.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Similarly, if the regulator breaks gauge symmetry one usually needs to include a gauge boson mass counterterm to restore the symmetry [132], and in particular to ensure that the physical gauge boson mass vanishes.

The symmetric integral generates a  $\frac{1}{4\pi\epsilon}$  pole that cancels the explicit  $\epsilon$  factor in front of it, leading to a finite result. Since a similar mechanism is responsible for the trace anomaly in DR, the authors of ref. [10] interpreted the non-vanishing of the one-loop contribution to the classical Hamiltonian as of anomalous nature.

We disagree with this interpretation. The trace anomaly arises in DR from an evanescent term of the form  $\epsilon O$  with O some operator. At the classical level, the operator O is finite so that the evanescent term vanishes in the limit  $\epsilon \to 0$ . At the quantum level, the operator contains a  $\frac{1}{\epsilon}$  pole leading to the trace anomaly. In contradistinction,  $H_c$  is not an evanescent operator and does not vanish at the classical level in the limit  $\epsilon \to 0$ . The explicit  $\epsilon$  factor is not part of the definition of  $H_c$  but appears in eq. (6.16) only after a change of variables. Despite the similitude with the trace anomaly mechanism, the one-loop contribution to  $H_c$ is actually not anomalous.

Anomalies are usually associated with a pair of symmetries [135]. In the present case, the pair consists of translation and dilatation symmetries. In the regularized theory, there is no way of preserving at the same time both translation symmetry and the standard definition of trace. In DR, Poincaré symmetry is preserved by distorting the classical d = 4 spacetime into a  $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$  one, affecting therefore the definition of trace; see also appendix B. Pauli-Villars regularization also preserves Poincaré symmetry but adds regulator fields which provide new contributions to the trace. Lattice regularization, on the other hand, preserves the classical d = 4 spacetime but breaks Poincaré symmetry by making it discrete. In this case the definition of trace is unaffected by the regularization and the trace anomaly must appear in the form of correction terms to the EMT ensuring that the translational Ward identities are satisfied.

To sum up, the appearance of trace anomaly contributions to the energy on the lattice is a pure artifact associated with the breaking of translation symmetry by the discretization. Translation symmetry being an exact symmetry at the quantum level, this artifact should disappear in the process of renormalization to agree with the results obtained using symmetry-preserving regularization schemes. In conclusion, we do not find any concrete support to the concept of QAE from LQCD.

# 7 Conclusions

Understanding the decomposition of the nucleon mass in QCD in terms of contributions from quarks and gluons is a topic of high interest and fundamental importance. Presently, different opinions exist in this area, reflected by different mass decompositions in the literature. Here we have concentrated on the mass decompositions which are based on the component  $T^{00}$  of the QCD EMT: a four-term decomposition originally proposed in refs. [3, 4] and recently slightly modified in refs. [8–10, 64–66], a two-term decomposition put forward in ref. [5], and a three-term decomposition arrived at in refs. [6, 7]. The latter two are very closely related — by separating the total quark contribution to the nucleon mass into quark kinetic plus potential energies and a quark mass term one obtains the three-term decomposition.

One controversy concerns the proper expressions for the renormalized operators of the mass decomposition. We have elaborated on this important point using DR and MS-type schemes, and we re-confirm the findings of refs. [6, 7] in that regard, which to some extent are based on the renormalization of the full EMT discussed in refs. [17, 18]. This implies, in particular, that in DR the operator  $\frac{1}{2}(E^2 + B^2)_R$  has a unique meaning in terms of components of the EMT. This operator corresponds to the total gluon contribution to the nucleon mass. Furthermore, different points of view exist with regard to the physical interpretation of the terms in the mass decompositions. We re-iterate the concern raised in ref. [5] that the four-term decomposition contains mixtures of genuine energy terms and pressure-volume terms. This feature is closely related to the fact that, in order to derive the four-term decomposition, one must make use of the condition for mechanical equilibrium of the nucleon. As we have shown, this condition actually coincides with the virial theorem, which we have discussed at length. Both the two-term and the three-term decomposition do not make use of the virial theorem, and their contributions have a clean physical interpretation. One argument that was put forth in favor of the four-term decomposition is that it contains the so-called "quantum anomalous energy", which has been suggested as a unique contribution to the nucleon mass [8-10]. We have explained why, in our view, this term is not a genuine contribution to the mass decomposition.

Even though the two-term and three-term mass decompositions do not contain the operator of the trace anomaly, it remains important to pursue attempts to measure (the gluon contribution to) the trace anomaly [68, 69, 136–147]. Such measurements can help obtaining a more robust phenomenology of the quark and gluon contributions to the EMT trace. This in turn allows one to better pin down the quark mass term and as such the numerics of all the terms of the nucleon mass decomposition. Finally, we would like to emphasize that all the nucleon mass decompositions require the same phenomenological input, namely two independent gravitational form factors.

# Acknowledgments

We would like to dedicate this work to the memory of Maxim Polyakov, who sadly passed away during the preparation of this manuscript. C.L. is grateful to Maxim Polyakov, Oleg Teryaev, and Christoph Kopper for illuminating discussions. The work of A. M. has been supported by the National Science Foundation under grant number PHY-2110472 and by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Nuclear Physics, within the framework of the TMD Topical Collaboration. The work of B.P. and S.R. is part of a project that has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement STRONG – 2020 – No. 824093.

# A Virial theorem

In this appendix, we review the virial theorem in various contexts and discuss its physical meaning.

#### A.1 Classical point mechanics

Originally, the virial theorem comes from classical point mechanics [148] where one considers a system of discrete pointlike particles bound by potential forces. Denoting by  $\mathbf{r}_k$  and  $\mathbf{p}_k$ the position and momentum of the kth particle, one introduces the quantity

$$G = \sum_{k} \boldsymbol{p}_{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}_{k} \tag{A.1}$$

whose time derivative can be expressed as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}G}{\mathrm{d}t} = \sum_{k} \left( \boldsymbol{p}_{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_{k} + \boldsymbol{F}_{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}_{k} \right), \qquad (A.2)$$

where the velocity of the kth particle is defined as  $v_k = dr_k/dt$  and the net force acting on it as  $F_k = dp_k/dt$ . In both the relativistic and non-relativistic cases, the velocity of a particle can be expressed as the derivative of the kinetic energy with respect to momentum. Moreover, if the forces derive from a potential that depends only on the coordinates, we can finally write

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}G}{\mathrm{d}t} = \sum_{k} \left( \boldsymbol{p}_{k} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{p}_{k}} \mathcal{T}(\{\boldsymbol{p}_{i}\}) - \boldsymbol{r}_{k} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{r}_{k}} \mathcal{V}(\{\boldsymbol{r}_{i}\}) \right), \tag{A.3}$$

where  $\mathcal{T}(\{p_i\})$  and  $\mathcal{V}(\{r_i\})$  are the total kinetic and potential energies depending on all the momentum and position variables, respectively.

For convenience, we introduce a double square bracket notation

$$\llbracket O \rrbracket \equiv \lim_{\tau \to \infty} \frac{1}{\tau} \int_0^\tau \mathrm{d}t \, O(t) \tag{A.4}$$

to indicate that some quantity O is averaged over a long time. One can then write

$$\left[\left[\frac{\mathrm{d}G}{\mathrm{d}t}\right]\right] = \lim_{\tau \to \infty} \frac{G(\tau) - G(0)}{\tau}.$$
 (A.5)

Now, for a bound system in the center-of-mass frame,<sup>16</sup> particle coordinates and momenta are expected to be bounded, so that  $G_{\min} \leq G(t) \leq G_{\max}$  for all t with both  $G_{\min}$  and  $G_{\max}$  finite. In that case, one expects [dG/dt] = 0 and hence

$$\sum_{k} \left[ \left[ \boldsymbol{p}_{k} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{p}_{k}} \mathcal{T} \right] \right] = \sum_{k} \left[ \left[ \boldsymbol{r}_{k} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{r}_{k}} \mathcal{V} \right] \right].$$
(A.6)

This is a generic form of the virial theorem in classical point mechanics, valid for both relativistic and non-relativistic theories [149, 150].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>It seems that the condition on the reference frame is often omitted in the literature. It is however essential since G(t) receives a contribution from the center-of-mass motion that grows linearly with t for a closed system, unless the total momentum vanishes.

In particular, for a non-relativistic theory with a potential between any two particles iand j of the form  $\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{r}_i, \mathbf{r}_j) = Cr^n$ , where r is the relative distance and C is some constant, the virial theorem reduces to a simple relation between the time-averaged total kinetic and potential internal energies

$$2\llbracket \mathcal{T} \rrbracket = n\llbracket \mathcal{V} \rrbracket, \tag{A.7}$$

and allows one to express e.g. the total center-of-mass energy purely in terms of  $[\mathcal{V}]$ . The kinetic energy being always positive, the sign of the constant C must be the same as the sign of n for the bound system to exist. In other words, the net forces must be attractive.

More generally, one can write the virial theorem in non-relativistic point mechanics as

$$\llbracket \mathcal{T} \rrbracket = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{k} \llbracket \boldsymbol{r}_k \cdot \boldsymbol{F}_k \rrbracket.$$
(A.8)

The quantity on the right-hand side is called the *virial*, derived from the latin word *vis* meaning "force", "energy" or "power". This form of the virial theorem is very useful, e.g., for the description of gases. Indeed, for a non-relativistic gas contained in a box of volume V at rest with a constant pressure p, the virial theorem tells us that [151]

$$\llbracket \mathcal{T} \rrbracket = \frac{3}{2} pV - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k} \llbracket \boldsymbol{r}_{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{F}_{k}^{\text{int}} \rrbracket,$$
(A.9)

where the second term on the r.h.s. is the virial associated with internal forces only, and the first term corresponds to the contribution arising from the external forces exerted by the walls of the box

$$-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{k} \llbracket \boldsymbol{r}_{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{F}_{k}^{\text{ext}} \rrbracket = \frac{1}{2} p \int \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{S} \cdot \boldsymbol{r} = \frac{1}{2} p \int \mathrm{d}^{3}\boldsymbol{r} \,\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \boldsymbol{r} = \frac{3}{2} p V. \tag{A.10}$$

For ideal gases there are no internal forces and so  $\llbracket \mathcal{T} \rrbracket = \frac{3}{2} pV$ . If the gas is composed of N particles, the equipartition theorem tells us that  $\llbracket \mathcal{T} \rrbracket = \frac{3}{2} Nk_B T$ , where  $k_B$  is the Boltzmann constant and T is the temperature, and one obtains finally the ideal gas law  $pV = Nk_B T$ .

## A.2 Quantum mechanics

The virial theorem also holds in quantum mechanics [152–154]. Indeed, similarly to classical mechanics one defines the operator G as<sup>17</sup>

$$G = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k} (\boldsymbol{r}_{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{p}_{k} + \boldsymbol{p}_{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}_{k}).$$
(A.11)

According to Ehrenfest's theorem, we can write

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\langle G\rangle = \frac{1}{i}\langle [G,H]\rangle \tag{A.12}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>In the literature, one uses sometimes a non-symmetric definition  $G = \sum_k \mathbf{p}_k \cdot \mathbf{r}_k$  in quantum mechanics. The ambiguity associated with the ordering of operators will however be irrelevant. Indeed, the various orderings differ only by a term proportional to the identity operator and give therefore the same commutators of G with other operators, which are the only quantities needed for our presentation.

with  $\langle O \rangle$  the expectation value associated with some normalizable state. For a Hamiltonian of the form

$$H = \sum_{k} \frac{\boldsymbol{p}_{k}^{2}}{2m_{k}} + \mathcal{V}(\{\boldsymbol{r}_{k}\})$$
(A.13)

we get

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\langle G\rangle = 2\langle \mathcal{T}\rangle - \sum_{k} \langle \boldsymbol{r}_{k} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{r}_{k}} \mathcal{V}\rangle \tag{A.14}$$

with  $\mathcal{T} = \sum_k p_k^2 / 2m_k$  the usual non-relativistic kinetic energy operator.

Now, for a normalizable stationary state  $H|\Psi\rangle = E|\Psi\rangle$  we have  $d\langle\Psi|G|\Psi\rangle/dt = 0$ , leading to the quantum version of the non-relativistic virial theorem

$$2\langle \Psi | \mathcal{T} | \Psi \rangle = \sum_{k} \langle \Psi | \boldsymbol{r}_{k} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{r}_{k}} \mathcal{V} | \Psi \rangle.$$
 (A.15)

If the potential between two particles is of the form  $\mathcal{V}(\mathbf{r}_i, \mathbf{r}_j) = Cr^n$ , eq. (A.15) becomes  $2\langle \Psi | \mathcal{T} | \Psi \rangle = n \langle \Psi | \mathcal{V} | \Psi \rangle$  which is the quantum-mechanical counterpart of eq. (A.7). Denoting the center-of-mass position and momentum operators by  $\mathbf{r}_{\rm CM}$  and  $\mathbf{p}_{\rm CM}$ , we have also  $\mathbf{0} = d\langle \Psi | \mathbf{r}_{\rm CM} | \Psi \rangle / dt = \langle \Psi | \mathbf{p}_{\rm CM} | \Psi \rangle / m$  indicating that a stationary state is in average at rest.<sup>18</sup> This is consistent with the observation that eq. (A.15) cannot be valid in all frames, since for a closed bound system the total kinetic energy increases with the total momentum of the system, whereas the potential energy does not [155]. Note also that if we work with a superposition of stationary states, the expectation value  $\langle \Psi | G | \Psi \rangle$  will generally depend on time. However, like in the classical case it may still be bounded, so that  $[\mathrm{Id}\langle \Psi | G | \Psi \rangle / \mathrm{dt}] = 0$  [156].

It was later realized that G is simply the generator of spatial dilatations  $U_D = e^{-i\kappa G}$ , as one can see from

$$U_D^{-1}\boldsymbol{r}_k U_D = \lambda \boldsymbol{r}_k, \qquad U_D^{-1}\boldsymbol{p}_k U_D = \lambda^{-1}\boldsymbol{p}_k \tag{A.16}$$

with  $\lambda = e^{\kappa}$ . This is also clear from

$$\frac{1}{i}[H,G] = -\sum_{k} \boldsymbol{p}_{k} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{p}_{k}} \mathcal{T} + \sum_{k} \boldsymbol{r}_{k} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{r}_{k}} \mathcal{V} = \sum_{k} \left( \boldsymbol{r}_{k} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{r}_{k}} - \boldsymbol{p}_{k} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{p}_{k}} \right) H, \quad (A.17)$$

since  $p_k \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial p_k}$  and  $r_k \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial r_k}$  measure the degree of homogeneity in momentum and position space, respectively. This observation leads to an interesting alternative derivation of the virial theorem from a variational approach [154, 155, 157–159] which applies also to relativistic quantum mechanics. Let us introduce the function

$$E(\kappa) = \langle \Psi_{\kappa} | H | \Psi_{\kappa} \rangle = \langle \Psi | U_D^{-1} H U_D | \Psi \rangle, \qquad (A.18)$$

where  $|\Psi\rangle$  is some state and  $|\Psi_{\kappa}\rangle = U_D |\Psi\rangle$  is its dilated counterpart which depends on the parameter  $\kappa$ . In a variational approach, we require that the eigenvalue E of a stationary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>One may argue that momentum eigenstates with non-vanishing momentum are also eigenstates of the Hamiltonian. However, these states are non-normalizable and one cannot automatically conclude that  $d\langle G \rangle/dt = 0$ .

state  $|\Psi\rangle$  must be an extremum of  $E(\kappa)$  at  $\kappa = 0$ . In other words, we demand that

$$E(0) = E,$$
  

$$\frac{\partial E}{\partial \kappa}(0) = \langle \Psi | \frac{\partial (U_D^{-1} H U_D)}{\partial \kappa} \Big|_{\kappa=0} |\Psi\rangle = 0.$$
(A.19)

Using eq. (A.17), the stationarity condition under spatial rescaling gives directly the virial theorem

$$\sum_{k} \langle \Psi | \boldsymbol{p}_{k} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{p}_{k}} \mathcal{T} | \Psi \rangle = \sum_{k} \langle \Psi | \boldsymbol{r}_{k} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \boldsymbol{r}_{k}} \mathcal{V} | \Psi \rangle, \qquad (A.20)$$

recognized as the quantum-mechanical counterpart of eq. (A.6).

The connection between this derivation and the former one simply follows from the identity

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}G}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{1}{i}[G,H] = -\frac{1}{i}[H,G] = -\frac{\partial(U_D^{-1}HU_D)}{\partial\kappa}\Big|_{\kappa=0} \tag{A.21}$$

which relates the breaking of dilatation symmetry to the behavior of the Hamiltonian under dilatations. This shows that the virial theorem is fundamentally a statement about mechanical equilibrium expressed by the stationarity of the system under spatial dilatations. Note however that it does not say anything about stability since the latter is determined by the second derivative w.r.t.  $\kappa$ .

The virial theorem is often used to simplify the calculation of the total energy of a bound system. Let us consider for example a relativistic spin-1/2 particle in a static external potential [160]. In the Dirac theory, we can write the particle energy as

$$E = \int d^3 r \,\psi^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{r} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} V(\boldsymbol{r}) \psi + m \int d^3 r \,\psi^{\dagger} \beta \psi + \int d^3 r \,\psi^{\dagger} V(\boldsymbol{r}) \psi, \qquad (A.22)$$

since the virial theorem (A.20) tells us that  $\int d^3r \,\psi^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \boldsymbol{p} \,\psi = \int d^3r \,\psi^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{r} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} V(\boldsymbol{r}) \psi$ . For a Coulomb potential  $V_C(r) \propto 1/r$ , we have  $\boldsymbol{r} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} V_C(r) = -V_C(r)$  so that we get the remarkably simple expression

$$E = m \int \mathrm{d}^3 r \,\psi^{\dagger} \beta \psi. \tag{A.23}$$

Evaluating the r.h.s. of eq. (A.23) with a trial wave function provides, in a simple manner, an upper bound for the energy of the system. For a free particle, the rest energy is E = mand we recover from eq. (A.23) the expected normalization of the free Dirac wave function  $\int d^3r \,\psi^{\dagger}\beta\psi = 1$ . For a bound particle, we expect E < m and hence  $\int d^3r \,\psi^{\dagger}\beta\psi < 1$ .

## A.3 Link between field theory and point mechanics

As discussed in section 2.2 the virial theorem can be extended to a field-theoretical framework. We show here how the continuum treatment reduces to the usual one in point mechanics. For a point particle we can write the momentum density as  $T^{0i}(x) = p^i(x) \,\delta^{(3)}(x - r(t))$ . Its time derivative receives therefore two contributions,

$$\partial_0 T^{0i}(x) = \partial_0 p^i(x) \,\delta^{(3)}(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{r}(t)) - p^i(x) \,\boldsymbol{v}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla}_x \delta^{(3)}(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{r}(t)), \qquad (A.24)$$

where  $\boldsymbol{v} = d\boldsymbol{r}/dt$  is the particle velocity. The net force acting on the particle is obtained by integrating this equation over space

$$F^{i}(t,\boldsymbol{r}(t)) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int \mathrm{d}^{3}x \, T^{0i}(x) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} p^{i}(t,\boldsymbol{r}(t)) = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} p^{i}(t,\boldsymbol{r}(t)) + \boldsymbol{v}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} p^{i}(t,\boldsymbol{r}(t)).$$
(A.25)

We recognize as expected the expression for the material derivative. We can then rewrite eq. (A.24) as

$$\partial_0 T^{0i}(x) = F^i(t, \boldsymbol{r}(t)) \,\delta^{(3)}(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{r}(t)) - \boldsymbol{v}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} T^{0i}(x). \tag{A.26}$$

So the rate of momentum change  $\partial_0 T^{0i}(x)$  at a fixed spacetime location (Eulerian description) is related to the rate of momentum change  $F^i(t, \mathbf{r}(t)) \, \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{r}(t)) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} T^{0i}(x)$  of the fixed material point (Lagrangian description) via the convective rate of momentum change  $\mathbf{v}(t) \cdot \nabla T^{0i}(x)$ . Remembering now that  $G = \sum_i \int \mathrm{d}^3 x \, T^{0i} x^i$ , we get

$$G(t, \boldsymbol{r}(t)) = \boldsymbol{r}(t) \cdot \boldsymbol{p}(t, \boldsymbol{r}(t))$$
(A.27)

and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}G(t,\boldsymbol{r}(t)) = \boldsymbol{r}(t)\cdot\boldsymbol{F}(t,\boldsymbol{r}(t)) + \boldsymbol{v}(t)\cdot\boldsymbol{p}(t,\boldsymbol{r}(t))$$
(A.28)

which agree with the expressions found in point mechanics, where the explicit and implicit time dependences of G, F and p are merged into a single total time dependence.

Comparing now eq. (A.26) with eq. (2.16) for  $\mu = i$ , we find that

$$\mathcal{F}^{i}(x) = F^{i}(t, \boldsymbol{r}(t)) \,\delta^{(3)}(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{r}(t)), \qquad (A.29)$$

as expected, but also

$$T^{ki}(x) = v^k(t)T^{0i}(x) (A.30)$$

which indicates that the stress tensor associated with a point particle is simply given by the tensor product of the momentum density with the velocity. Put differently, the stress tensor arises from the sole motion of the particle and has therefore purely convective contributions. Since a point particle has no extension, it has no internal, that is, rest-frame pressure.

## **B** Dimensional regularization

In this section, we summarize the main working principles of dimensional regularization (DR), as described in the works of refs. [82, 84]. In particular, we will outline the properties of the (infinite-dimensional) domain space in the DR approach and how the physical space of a system can consistently be incorporated as a subspace of this domain.

DR is defined only in perturbation theory through the following general procedure: for any given Green's function, one inserts an expansion (of order n) of the exponential of the action and replaces the usual momentum integration in 4 dimensions with a map  $\mathcal{I}_d$  which is usually called 'integration in d dimensions'. Since the momentum integration has changed, it is natural that also the 'momenta' have changed their nature, from four-vectors to objects with different dimensionality. These objects actually take different definitions depending on the type of DR that one adopts. We can distinguish the following DR types (see, e.g., ref. [79] for a comprehensive overview): the conventional DR (CDR), where one treats all the vectors and tensors in d dimensions (see below for the proper definition of d-dimensional vectors); the 't Hooft-Veltman (HV) regularization, where one attributes d dimensions only to the 'singular' or 'internal' vector (or tensor) fields and 4 dimensions to all other fields; the four-dimensional helicity scheme (FDH) and dimensional reduction (DRED), where one treats the momenta in d dimensions and enlarges the space to  $d_s = d + n_{\epsilon}$  dimensions to treat the singular vector fields in  $d_s$  dimension, working with the regular vector fields in 4 (within FDH) or  $d_s$  (within DRED) dimensions.

A common misconception is that any DR scheme extends or contracts the Minkowski momentum space  $S_4$  into a non-integer vector space. This is not how DR actually works at a consistent theoretical level. DR extends  $S_4$  into an *infinitely-dimensional* vector space, indicated as a quasi-*d*-dimensional space<sup>19</sup>  $QS_d$ , which may be further enlarged to a quasi-*d<sub>s</sub>*-dimensional space, denoted by  $QS_{d_s}$ , via a direct (orthogonal) sum with  $QS_{n_{\epsilon}}$ ,

$$QS_{d_s} = QS_d \oplus QS_{n_s}, \quad S_4 \subset QS_d.$$
 (B.1)

The space  $QS_d$  is the natural domain of CDR and of momentum integration in all the DR schemes, and the claim that one works with d dimensions comes from the scaling property of the map  $\mathcal{I}_d$ , which resembles the scaling property of a finite dimensional space with ddimensions. We can briefly summarize the properties of the map  $\mathcal{I}_d$  which is at the core of all the DR variants following the outline in refs. [80, 81]. Formally,  $\mathcal{I}_d$  is defined for scalar 'integrands' as the map from the direct product of space functions on  $QS_d$  and  $QS_d$  onto complex numbers, i.e.

$$\mathcal{I}_d: \mathcal{F}(QS_d) \otimes QS_d \to \mathbb{C},$$
  
(f, p)  $\mapsto \mathcal{I}_d(f, p).$  (B.2)

In the following, we will assume that  $QS_d$  is a Euclidean space. To translate the theory from Minkowski space into Euclidean space one can either apply a Wick-rotation from the very beginning or single out the time dimension by writing  $\boldsymbol{p} = (p^0, \boldsymbol{q})$ 

$$\mathcal{I}_d(f, \boldsymbol{p}) = \int dp^0 \, \mathcal{I}_{d-1}(f(p^0, \boldsymbol{q}), \boldsymbol{q}). \tag{B.3}$$

The separation of  $\mathcal{I}_d$  into a standard one-dimensional integral and a residual d-1 map is allowed and consistent, as it will become evident from the discussion below. This is what is meant when working in  $1+(3-2\epsilon)$  dimensions.<sup>20</sup>

The fundamental axioms for the map  $\mathcal{I}_d$  are:

- 1. Linearity:  $\mathcal{I}_d(af + bg, \mathbf{p}) = a\mathcal{I}_d(f, \mathbf{p}) + b\mathcal{I}_d(g, \mathbf{p});$
- 2. Scaling:  $\mathcal{I}_d(f, s\mathbf{p}) = s^{-d}\mathcal{I}_d(f, \mathbf{p})$ , where this property sets the 'dimension' of the spacetime to d;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Usually one sets  $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>Similarly, using light-front variables, the choice  $d = 2 + (2 - 2\epsilon)$  implies an integration over the  $\pm$  components in eq. (B.3).

- 3. Translational invariance:  $\mathcal{I}_d(f_q, p) = \mathcal{I}_d(f, p)$  with  $f_q(p) = f(p+q)$ ;
- 4. Rotational invariance:  $\mathcal{I}_d(f_R, \mathbf{p}) = \mathcal{I}_d(f, \mathbf{p})$  with  $f_R(\mathbf{p}) = f(R\mathbf{p})$ , where R is an arbitrary rotation matrix in  $QS_d$ .

From these axioms, one has to prove the existence and uniqueness of the map  $\mathcal{I}_d$ . We start with the uniqueness. Suppose that the map  $\mathcal{I}_d$  exists. From the linearity axiom, we can expand any function in  $\mathcal{F}(QS_d)$  in terms of a set of basis functions which can be taken as [80]

$$f_{s,\boldsymbol{q}}(\boldsymbol{p}) = f(s(\boldsymbol{p}+\boldsymbol{q})) = \exp\left(-s^2(\boldsymbol{p}+\boldsymbol{q})^2\right).$$
(B.4)

Hence,  $\mathcal{I}_d(g, p)$  can be expressed, for any function g, as a superposition of the master integral

$$\mathcal{I}_d(e^{-\boldsymbol{p}^2}, \boldsymbol{p}), \tag{B.5}$$

which is set by definition to

$$\mathcal{I}_d(e^{-\boldsymbol{p}^2}, \boldsymbol{p}) = \pi^{d/2}.$$
 (B.6)

Therefore, up to a redefinition of the normalization of  $\mathcal{I}_d$ , if the map exists, it is also unique.

To prove the existence, one first assumes that all the external physical vectors  $\boldsymbol{q}_i$  in  $\mathrm{QS}_d$  belong to a vector subspace  $V \subset \mathrm{QS}_d$  with  $\dim(V) = J < +\infty$ . This assumption is not restrictive, since any external vector should live in the physical Minkowski space of the theory (for standard QED or QCD the physical space is 4-dimensional). Any vector  $\boldsymbol{p} \in \mathrm{QS}_d$  can then be written as  $\boldsymbol{p} = \boldsymbol{p}_{\parallel} + \boldsymbol{p}_{\perp}$ , where  $\boldsymbol{p}_{\parallel} \in V$  and  $\boldsymbol{p}_{\parallel} \cdot \boldsymbol{p}_{\perp} = 0$ . Within such a decomposition, a generic scalar function is given by

$$f(\boldsymbol{p}, \{\boldsymbol{q}_i\}_i) \equiv f(p^2, \{\boldsymbol{p} \cdot \boldsymbol{q}_i\}_i, \{\boldsymbol{q}_i \cdot \boldsymbol{q}_j\}_{i,j}),$$
(B.7)

and one *defines* the map  $\mathcal{I}_d$  to be the ordinary *J*-dimensional integral over  $p_{\parallel}$  performed after the integration in one dimension over  $p_{\perp} = |\mathbf{p}_{\perp}|$  with a weight  $p_{\perp}^{d-J-1}$ , i.e.

$$\mathcal{I}_{d}\left(f(p^{2},\{\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{q}_{i}\}_{i},\{\boldsymbol{q}_{i}\cdot\boldsymbol{q}_{j}\}_{i,j}),\boldsymbol{p}\right)$$

$$\equiv\frac{2\pi^{\frac{d-J}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d-J}{2}\right)}\int\prod_{i=1}^{J}dp_{\parallel}^{i}\int_{0}^{\infty}dp_{\perp}p_{\perp}^{d-J-1}f(p^{2},\{\boldsymbol{p}\cdot\boldsymbol{q}_{i}\}_{i},\{\boldsymbol{q}_{i}\cdot\boldsymbol{q}_{j}\}_{i,j}).$$
(B.8)

Such a definition is consistent with the fundamental axioms of the map  $\mathcal{I}_d$  and justifies the commonly adopted nomenclature of 'integration in *d* dimensions'. Furthermore, it works independently of the dimension of *V* as long as dim $(V) < +\infty$ . One can easily extend the definition to the case of tensor integrals. For a generic tensor function, one can always write down the following expansion into scalar functions  $f_i(\mathbf{p}^2, \mathbf{q}^2, \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{q})$ ,

$$f^{ij}(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}) = p^{i}q^{j}f_{1}(\mathbf{p}^{2}, \mathbf{q}^{2}, \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{q}) + q^{i}p^{j}f_{2}(\mathbf{p}^{2}, \mathbf{q}^{2}, \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{q}) + p^{i}p^{j}f_{3}(\mathbf{p}^{2}, \mathbf{q}^{2}, \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{q}) + q^{i}q^{j}f_{4}(\mathbf{p}^{2}, \mathbf{q}^{2}, \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{q}) + g^{ij}f_{5}(\mathbf{p}^{2}, \mathbf{q}^{2}, \mathbf{p} \cdot \mathbf{q}),$$
(B.9)

and then proceed with the integration term by term. If the index of the tensor function is carried by one of the external momenta  $q_i$ , then there is no ambiguity in the meaning of the index, since the external momenta live in the finite subspace V. Vice versa, if the index is carried by  $\boldsymbol{p}$ , one enlarges the space V for the integration of the corresponding term in eq. (B.9) in such a way to include that explicit component of  $\boldsymbol{p}$  in the parallel integration. As a final result, one has that in CDR or HV the open indices either belong to the minimal subspace V which contains all the external vectors — in such a case we usually have the identification between V and the Wick-rotated Minkowski space — or to the metric tensor  $g^{\mu\nu}$ .

The final step is to introduce a proper definition of the covariant tensor  $g_{\mu\nu}$  in an infinite-dimensional space. The naive construction as the inverse of  $g^{\mu\nu}$  would lead to  $g_{\mu\nu}g^{\mu\nu} = +\infty$ , which is not very useful. Instead, one can define  $g_{\mu\nu}$ , and hence the dual space of covariant tensor operators, through the map  $\mathcal{I}_d$ , by requiring that its action on the generic tensor function T is

$$g_{\mu\nu}(\boldsymbol{T}) = \frac{d\,\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}{\pi^{\frac{d}{2}}}\,\mathcal{I}_d\left(\delta(\boldsymbol{p}^2 - 1)\sum_{i,j}T^{ij}p^ip^j, \boldsymbol{p}\right).\tag{B.10}$$

For the special case  $T = g^{\mu\nu}$  one obtains  $g_{\mu\nu}g^{\mu\nu} = d$  as one would expect in a 'd-dimensional space'.

Within the framework of any DR scheme discussed above, the standard meaning of a component for any vector or tensor fails, notably if the component index is carried by the metric tensor which inherently lives in the infinitely-dimensional space  $QS_d$ . However, this does not cause any trouble, since all physical observables are scalars. The component of a physical quantity represented by a vector or a tensor comes into play only through scalar products and assumes a particular value once a reference frame has been specified. With this understanding, we have a clear interpretation also in the DR schemes.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

## References

- M.A. Shifman, A.I. Vainshtein and V.I. Zakharov, Remarks on Higgs Boson Interactions with Nucleons, Phys. Lett. B 78 (1978) 443 [INSPIRE].
- J.F. Donoghue, On the contents of the nucleon, in Physics with Light Mesons, (1987) [INSPIRE].
- [3] X.-D. Ji, A QCD analysis of the mass structure of the nucleon, Phys. Rev. Lett. 74 (1995) 1071 [hep-ph/9410274] [INSPIRE].
- [4] X.-D. Ji, Breakup of hadron masses and energy-momentum tensor of QCD, Phys. Rev. D 52 (1995) 271 [hep-ph/9502213] [INSPIRE].
- [5] C. Lorcé, On the hadron mass decomposition, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 120 [arXiv:1706.05853] [INSPIRE].
- [6] S. Rodini, A. Metz and B. Pasquini, Mass sum rules of the electron in quantum electrodynamics, JHEP 09 (2020) 067 [arXiv:2004.03704] [INSPIRE].

- [7] A. Metz, B. Pasquini and S. Rodini, Revisiting the proton mass decomposition, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 114042 [arXiv:2006.11171] [INSPIRE].
- [8] X. Ji, Proton mass decomposition: naturalness and interpretations, Front. Phys. (Beijing) 16 (2021) 64601 [arXiv:2102.07830] [INSPIRE].
- [9] X. Ji and Y. Liu, Quantum anomalous energy effects on the nucleon mass, Sci. China Phys. Mech. Astron. 64 (2021) 281012 [arXiv:2101.04483] [INSPIRE].
- [10] X. Ji, Y. Liu and A. Schäfer, Scale symmetry breaking, quantum anomalous energy and proton mass decomposition, Nucl. Phys. B 971 (2021) 115537 [arXiv:2105.03974] [INSPIRE].
- [11] E.A. Dudas and D. Pirjol, A Virial theorem in quantum field theory, Phys. Lett. B 260 (1991) 186 [INSPIRE].
- [12] J. Gaite, The relativistic virial theorem and scale invariance, Phys. Usp. 56 (2013) 919
   [arXiv:1306.0722] [INSPIRE].
- [13] D. Davies, Cardy's Conjecture and the Spectrum of Infrared Strongly-Coupled Quantum Field Theories, arXiv:2005.07209 [INSPIRE].
- [14] M.V. Polyakov, Generalized parton distributions and strong forces inside nucleons and nuclei, Phys. Lett. B 555 (2003) 57 [hep-ph/0210165] [INSPIRE].
- [15] M.V. Polyakov and P. Schweitzer, Forces inside hadrons: pressure, surface tension, mechanical radius, and all that, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 33 (2018) 1830025 [arXiv:1805.06596]
   [INSPIRE].
- [16] C. Lorcé, H. Moutarde and A.P. Trawiński, Revisiting the mechanical properties of the nucleon, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 89 [arXiv:1810.09837] [INSPIRE].
- [17] Y. Hatta, A. Rajan and K. Tanaka, Quark and gluon contributions to the QCD trace anomaly, JHEP 12 (2018) 008 [arXiv:1810.05116] [INSPIRE].
- [18] K. Tanaka, Three-loop formula for quark and gluon contributions to the QCD trace anomaly, JHEP 01 (2019) 120 [arXiv:1811.07879] [INSPIRE].
- [19] C.G. Callan Jr., S.R. Coleman and R. Jackiw, A New improved energy-momentum tensor, Annals Phys. 59 (1970) 42 [INSPIRE].
- [20] S.R. Coleman and R. Jackiw, Why dilatation generators do not generate dilatations?, Annals Phys. 67 (1971) 552 [INSPIRE].
- [21] F. Villars, On the Energy-Momentum Tensor of the Electron, Phys. Rev. **79** (1950) 122 [INSPIRE].
- [22] F. Rohrlich, The Self-Stress of the Electron, Phys. Rev. 77 (1950) 357.
- [23] J. Jukawa and H. Umezawa, On the Problem of Covariance in Quantum Electrodynamics, I, Prog. Theor. Phys. 6 (1951) 112.
- [24] Y. Takahashi and H. Umezawa, On the Problem of Covariance in Quantum Electrodynamics, I, Prog. Theor. Phys. 8 (1952) 193.
- [25] E.B. Manoukian, Selfstress and Renormalization Group, Phys. Rev. D 12 (1975) 1199 [INSPIRE].
- [26] T. Kashiwa, Trace identity and selfstress in quantum electrodynamics, Prog. Theor. Phys. 62 (1979) 250 [INSPIRE].
- [27] V.A. Shafranov, Plasma Equilibrium in a Magnetic Field, Rev. Plasma Phys. 2 (1966) 103.

- [28] R.M. Kulsrud, MHD description of plasma, Basic Plasma Physics I, North Holland (1983).
- [29] L.D. Faddeev, L. Freyhult, A.J. Niemi and P. Rajan, Shafranov's virial theorem and magnetic plasma confinement, J. Phys. A 35 (2002) L133 [physics/0009061] [INSPIRE].
- [30] M. Laue, Zur Dynamik der Relativitätstheorie, Annalen Phys. 340 (1911) 524 [INSPIRE].
- [31] A. Chodos, R.L. Jaffe, K. Johnson, C.B. Thorn and V.F. Weisskopf, A New Extended Model of Hadrons, Phys. Rev. D 9 (1974) 3471 [INSPIRE].
- [32] A. Chodos, R.L. Jaffe, K. Johnson and C.B. Thorn, Baryon Structure in the Bag Theory, Phys. Rev. D 10 (1974) 2599 [INSPIRE].
- [33] I. Zahed and G.E. Brown, The Skyrme Model, Phys. Rept. 142 (1986) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [34] C. Cebulla, K. Goeke, J. Ossmann and P. Schweitzer, The Nucleon form-factors of the energy momentum tensor in the Skyrme model, Nucl. Phys. A 794 (2007) 87 [hep-ph/0703025] [INSPIRE].
- [35] L. Landau and E. Lifshitz, The Classical Theory of Fields, Addison-Wesley Press (1951).
- [36] S. Chandrasekhar and E. Fermi, Problems of Gravitational Stability in the Presence of a Magnetic Field, Astrophys. J. 118 (1953) 116 [Erratum ibid. 122 (1955) 208] [INSPIRE].
- [37] E.N. Parker, Tensor Virial Equations, Phys. Rev. 96 (1954) 1686.
- [38] I.Y. Kobzarev and L.B. Okun, Gravitational interaction of fermions, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 43 (1962) 1904 [INSPIRE].
- [39] H. Pagels, Energy-Momentum Structure Form Factors of Particles, Phys. Rev. 144 (1966) 1250 [INSPIRE].
- [40] K. Nishijima and A.H. Singh, Normalization of Bethe-Salpeter Amplitudes, Phys. Rev. 162 (1967) 1740 [INSPIRE].
- [41] S. Cotogno, C. Lorcé, P. Lowdon and M. Morales, Covariant multipole expansion of local currents for massive states of any spin, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 056016
   [arXiv:1912.08749] [INSPIRE].
- [42] X.-D. Ji, Gauge-Invariant Decomposition of Nucleon Spin, Phys. Rev. Lett. 78 (1997) 610 [hep-ph/9603249] [INSPIRE].
- [43] C. Lorcé, The relativistic center of mass in field theory with spin, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 785 [arXiv:1805.05284] [INSPIRE].
- [44] C. Lorcé, Relativistic spin sum rules and the role of the pivot, Eur. Phys. J. C 81 (2021) 413 [arXiv:2103.10100] [INSPIRE].
- [45] C. Lorcé, L. Mantovani and B. Pasquini, Spatial distribution of angular momentum inside the nucleon, Phys. Lett. B 776 (2018) 38 [arXiv:1704.08557] [INSPIRE].
- [46] A. Freese and G.A. Miller, Forces within hadrons on the light front, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 094023 [arXiv:2102.01683] [INSPIRE].
- [47] C. Lorcé, Charge Distributions of Moving Nucleons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 (2020) 232002
   [arXiv:2007.05318] [INSPIRE].
- [48] X.-D. Ji, Lorentz symmetry and the internal structure of the nucleon, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 056003 [hep-ph/9710290] [INSPIRE].
- [49] C. Eckart, The Thermodynamics of irreversible processes. 3. Relativistic theory of the simple fluid, Phys. Rev. 58 (1940) 919 [INSPIRE].

- [50] P.G. Bergmann ed., Introduction to the Theory of Relativity, Dover, New York (1976).
- [51] L. Smarr and J.W. York Jr., Kinematical conditions in the construction of space-time, Phys. Rev. D 17 (1978) 2529 [INSPIRE].
- [52] A. Pais and S.T. Epstein, Note on Relativistic Properties of Self-Energies, Rev. Mod. Phys. 21 (1949) 445 [INSPIRE].
- [53] K.A. Milton, S.A. Fulling, P. Parashar, P. Kalauni and T. Murphy, Stress tensor for a scalar field in a spatially varying background potential: Divergences, "renormalization", anomalies, and Casimir forces, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 085017 [arXiv:1602.00916] [INSPIRE].
- [54] V.D. Burkert, L. Elouadrhiri and F.X. Girod, The pressure distribution inside the proton, Nature 557 (2018) 396 [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Shayit, S.A. Fulling, T.E. Settlemyre and J. Merritt, Vacuum energy density and pressure inside a soft wall, arXiv:2107.10439 [INSPIRE].
- [56] H.B. Meyer, Finite temperature sum rules in lattice gauge theory, Nucl. Phys. B 795 (2008)
   230 [arXiv:0711.0738] [INSPIRE].
- [57] M. Cheng et al., The QCD equation of state with almost physical quark masses, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 014511 [arXiv:0710.0354] [INSPIRE].
- [58] A. Bazavov et al., Equation of state and QCD transition at finite temperature, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 014504 [arXiv:0903.4379] [INSPIRE].
- [59] P.E. Shanahan and W. Detmold, Pressure Distribution and Shear Forces inside the Proton, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 072003 [arXiv:1810.07589] [INSPIRE].
- [60] R. Yanagihara, T. Iritani, M. Kitazawa, M. Asakawa and T. Hatsuda, Distribution of Stress Tensor around Static Quark-Anti-Quark from Yang-Mills Gradient Flow, Phys. Lett. B 789 (2019) 210 [arXiv:1803.05656] [INSPIRE].
- [61] R. Yanagihara and M. Kitazawa, A study of stress-tensor distribution around the flux tube in the Abelian-Higgs model, PTEP 2019 (2019) 093B02 [Erratum ibid. 2020 (2020) 079201]
   [arXiv:1905.10056] [INSPIRE].
- [62] R. Yanagihara, M. Kitazawa, M. Asakawa and T. Hatsuda, Distribution of Energy-Momentum Tensor around a Static Quark in the Deconfined Phase of SU(3) Yang-Mills Theory, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 114522 [arXiv:2010.13465] [INSPIRE].
- [63] J.L. Synge, *Relativity: The General theory*, North-Holland, Amsterdam (1960).
- [64] RQCD collaboration, Direct determinations of the nucleon and pion σ terms at nearly physical quark masses, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 094504 [arXiv:1603.00827] [INSPIRE].
- [65] Y.-B. Yang et al., Proton Mass Decomposition from the QCD Energy Momentum Tensor, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 212001 [arXiv:1808.08677] [INSPIRE].
- [66] K.-F. Liu, Proton mass decomposition and hadron cosmological constant, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 076010 [arXiv:2103.15768] [INSPIRE].
- [67] P. Di Francesco, P. Mathieu and D. Senechal, *Conformal Field Theory*, Graduate Texts in Contemporary Physics, Springer-Verlag, New York (1997) [DOI] [INSPIRE].
- [68] D. Kharzeev, Quarkonium interactions in QCD, Proc. Int. Sch. Phys. Fermi 130 (1996) 105 [nucl-th/9601029] [INSPIRE].
- [69] Y. Hatta, A. Rajan and D.-L. Yang, Near threshold J/ψ and Υ photoproduction at JLab and RHIC, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 014032 [arXiv:1906.00894] [INSPIRE].

- [70] C.D. Roberts, D.G. Richards, T. Horn and L. Chang, Insights into the emergence of mass from studies of pion and kaon structure, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 120 (2021) 103883 [arXiv:2102.01765] [INSPIRE].
- [71] W. Pauli, *Relativitätstheorie*, Teubner, Berlin (1921).
- [72] A. Staruszkiewicz, Relativistic transformation laws for thermodynamical variables with application to the classical electron theory, Nuovo Cim. A 45 (1956) 684.
- [73] C. Möller, Thermodynamics in the Special and the General Theory of Relativity, Bernardini Festschrift, G. Puppi, Academic Press, Berlin (1968).
- [74] R.C. Tolman, On the Use of the Energy-Momentum Principle in General Relativity, Phys. Rev. 35 (1930) 875 [INSPIRE].
- [75] R.C. Tolman, *Relativity, thermodynamics, and cosmology*, Oxford University Press, Toronto (1934).
- [76] M. Burkardt, Impact parameter space interpretation for generalized parton distributions, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 18 (2003) 173 [hep-ph/0207047] [INSPIRE].
- [77] Z. Abidin and C.E. Carlson, Hadronic Momentum Densities in the Transverse Plane, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 071502 [arXiv:0808.3097] [INSPIRE].
- [78] X. Ji, Fundamental Properties of the Proton in Light-Front Zero Modes, Nucl. Phys. B (2020) 115181 [arXiv:2003.04478] [INSPIRE].
- [79] C. Gnendiger et al., To d, or not to d: recent developments and comparisons of regularization schemes, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 471 [arXiv:1705.01827] [INSPIRE].
- [80] K.G. Wilson, Quantum field theory models in less than four-dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 7 (1973) 2911 [INSPIRE].
- [81] J.C. Collins, Renormalization: An Introduction to Renormalization, The Renormalization Group, and the Operator Product Expansion, vol. 26 of Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1986) [DOI] [INSPIRE].
- [82] P. Breitenlohner and D. Maison, Dimensional Renormalization and the Action Principle, Commun. Math. Phys. 52 (1977) 11 [INSPIRE].
- [83] N.K. Nielsen, The Energy Momentum Tensor in a Nonabelian Quark Gluon Theory, Nucl. Phys. B 120 (1977) 212 [INSPIRE].
- [84] H. Suzuki, Energy-momentum tensor from the Yang-Mills gradient flow, PTEP 2013 (2013) 083B03 [Erratum ibid. 2015 (2015) 079201] [arXiv:1304.0533] [INSPIRE].
- [85] H. Makino and H. Suzuki, Lattice energy-momentum tensor from the Yang-Mills gradient flow — inclusion of fermion fields, PTEP 2014 (2014) 063B02 [Erratum ibid. 2015 (2015) 079202] [arXiv:1403.4772] [INSPIRE].
- [86] J.C. Collins, A. Duncan and S.D. Joglekar, Trace and Dilatation Anomalies in Gauge Theories, Phys. Rev. D 16 (1977) 438 [INSPIRE].
- [87] R. Tarrach, The renormalization of FF, Nucl. Phys. B 196 (1982) 45 [INSPIRE].
- [88] G. Bonneau, Zimmermann identities and renormalization group equation in dimensional renormalization, Nucl. Phys. B 167 (1980) 261 [INSPIRE].
- [89] G. Bonneau, Trace and Axial Anomalies in Dimensional Renormalization Through Zimmermann Like Identities, Nucl. Phys. B 171 (1980) 477 [INSPIRE].

- [90] S. Caracciolo, A. Montanari and A. Pelissetto, Operator product expansion on the lattice: A Numerical test in the two-dimensional nonlinear sigma model, JHEP 09 (2000) 045 [hep-lat/0007044] [INSPIRE].
- [91] J. Collins, Foundations of perturbative QCD, vol. 32, Cambridge University Press (2013) [INSPIRE].
- [92] W.A. Bardeen, A.J. Buras, D.W. Duke and T. Muta, Deep Inelastic Scattering Beyond the Leading Order in Asymptotically Free Gauge Theories, Phys. Rev. D 18 (1978) 3998
   [INSPIRE].
- [93] J.C. Collins, Normal Products in Dimensional Regularization, Nucl. Phys. B 92 (1975) 477 [INSPIRE].
- [94] K.G. Wilson, Anomalous dimensions and the breakdown of scale invariance in perturbation theory, Phys. Rev. D 2 (1970) 1478 [INSPIRE].
- [95] M.E. Peskin and D.V. Schroeder, An Introduction to quantum field theory, Addison-Wesley, Reading, U.S.A. (1995).
- [96] M.E. Luke, A.V. Manohar and M.J. Savage, A QCD Calculation of the interaction of quarkonium with nuclei, Phys. Lett. B 288 (1992) 355 [hep-ph/9204219] [INSPIRE].
- [97] M.B. Voloshin and V.I. Zakharov, Measuring QCD Anomalies in Hadronic Transitions Between Onium States, Phys. Rev. Lett. 45 (1980) 688 [INSPIRE].
- [98] V.A. Novikov and M.A. Shifman, Comment on the  $\psi' \to J/\psi\pi\pi$  Decay, Z. Phys. C 8 (1981) 43 [INSPIRE].
- [99] V.A. Novikov, M.A. Shifman, A.I. Vainshtein and V.I. Zakharov, Are All Hadrons Alike?, Nucl. Phys. B 191 (1981) 301 [INSPIRE].
- [100] M.A. Shifman, Anomalies and Low-Energy Theorems of Quantum Chromodynamics, Sov. Phys. Usp. 32 (1989) 289 [INSPIRE].
- [101] D.E. Kharzeev, Mass radius of the proton, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 054015
   [arXiv:2102.00110] [INSPIRE].
- [102] H.J. Rothe, A Novel look at the Michael lattice sum rules, Phys. Lett. B 355 (1995) 260
   [hep-lat/9504012] [INSPIRE].
- [103] H.J. Rothe, Lattice energy sum rule and the trace anomaly, Phys. Lett. B 364 (1995) 227 [hep-lat/9508005] [INSPIRE].
- [104] K.G. Wilson, Confinement of Quarks, Phys. Rev. D 10 (1974) 2445 [INSPIRE].
- [105] C. Michael, Lattice action sum rules, Nucl. Phys. B 280 (1987) 13 [INSPIRE].
- [106] C. Michael, Lattice sum rules for the color fields, Phys. Rev. D 53 (1996) 4102
   [hep-lat/9504016] [INSPIRE].
- [107] F. Karsch, SU(N) Gauge Theory Couplings on Asymmetric Lattices, Nucl. Phys. B 205 (1982) 285 [INSPIRE].
- [108] J. Engels, F. Karsch and K. Redlich, Scaling properties of the energy density in SU(2) lattice gauge theory, Nucl. Phys. B 435 (1995) 295 [hep-lat/9408009] [INSPIRE].
- [109] J. Engels, F. Karsch and T. Scheideler, Determination of anisotropy coefficients for SU(3) gauge actions from the integral and matching methods, Nucl. Phys. B 564 (2000) 303
   [hep-lat/9905002] [INSPIRE].

- [110] H.B. Meyer, A Calculation of the shear viscosity in SU(3) gluodynamics, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 101701 [arXiv:0704.1801] [INSPIRE].
- [111] S. Caracciolo, P. Menotti and A. Pelissetto, One loop analytic computation of the energy momentum tensor for lattice gauge theories, Nucl. Phys. B 375 (1992) 195 [INSPIRE].
- [112] S. Capitani and G. Rossi, Deep inelastic scattering in improved lattice QCD. 1. The First moment of structure functions, Nucl. Phys. B 433 (1995) 351 [hep-lat/9401014] [INSPIRE].
- [113] M. Gockeler et al., Lattice operators for moments of the structure functions and their transformation under the hypercubic group, Phys. Rev. D 54 (1996) 5705 [hep-lat/9602029]
   [INSPIRE].
- [114] G.S. Bali, K. Schilling and C. Schlichter, Observing long color flux tubes in SU(2) lattice gauge theory, Phys. Rev. D 51 (1995) 5165 [hep-lat/9409005] [INSPIRE].
- [115] M. Gockeler et al., Perturbative renormalization of bilinear quark and gluon operators, Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl. 53 (1997) 896 [hep-lat/9608033] [INSPIRE].
- [116] S. Caracciolo, G. Curci, P. Menotti and A. Pelissetto, The Energy Momentum Tensor on the Lattice: The Scalar Case, Nucl. Phys. B 309 (1988) 612 [INSPIRE].
- [117] S. Caracciolo, G. Curci, P. Menotti and A. Pelissetto, Renormalization of the Energy Momentum Tensor and the Trace Anomaly in Lattice QED, Phys. Lett. B 228 (1989) 375 [INSPIRE].
- [118] S. Caracciolo, G. Curci, P. Menotti and A. Pelissetto, The Energy Momentum Tensor for Lattice Gauge Theories, Annals Phys. 197 (1990) 119 [INSPIRE].
- [119] S. Caracciolo, P. Menotti and A. Pelissetto, Analytic determination at one loop of the energy momentum tensor for lattice QCD, Phys. Lett. B 260 (1991) 401 [INSPIRE].
- [120] A. Buonanno, G. Cella and G. Curci, Lattice energy-momentum tensor with Symanzik improved actions, Phys. Rev. D 51 (1995) 4494 [hep-lat/9506008] [INSPIRE].
- [121] L. Del Debbio, A. Patella and A. Rago, Space-time symmetries and the Yang-Mills gradient flow, JHEP 11 (2013) 212 [arXiv:1306.1173] [INSPIRE].
- [122] L. Giusti and M. Pepe, Energy-momentum tensor on the lattice: Nonperturbative renormalization in Yang-Mills theory, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 114504 [arXiv:1503.07042]
   [INSPIRE].
- [123] R.V. Harlander, Y. Kluth and F. Lange, The two-loop energy-momentum tensor within the gradient-flow formalism, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 944 [Erratum ibid. 79 (2019) 858]
   [arXiv:1808.09837] [INSPIRE].
- [124] M. Dalla Brida, L. Giusti and M. Pepe, Non-perturbative definition of the QCD energy-momentum tensor on the lattice, JHEP 04 (2020) 043 [arXiv:2002.06897] [INSPIRE].
- [125] G. Panagopoulos, H. Panagopoulos and G. Spanoudes, Two-loop renormalization and mixing of gluon and quark energy-momentum tensor operators, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 014515 [arXiv:2010.02062] [INSPIRE].
- [126] H. Suzuki and H. Takaura,  $t \rightarrow 0$  extrapolation function in the small flow time expansion method for the energy-momentum tensor, *PTEP* **2021** (2021) 073B02 [arXiv:2102.02174] [INSPIRE].
- [127] Y.-B. Yang et al., Meson Mass Decomposition from Lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 074516 [arXiv:1405.4440] [INSPIRE].

- [128]  $\chi$ QCD collaboration, Gluons in charmoniumlike states, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 094503 [arXiv:2012.06228] [INSPIRE].
- [129] χQCD collaboration, Demonstration of the hadron mass origin from the QCD trace anomaly, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 074507 [arXiv:2101.04942] [INSPIRE].
- [130] H. Hata, On the 'Trace Anomaly From Path Integral Measure', Prog. Theor. Phys. 65 (1981) 1052 [INSPIRE].
- [131] N.N. Bogolyubov and D.V. Shirkov, Introduction to the theory of quantized fields, vol. 3, John Wiley & Sons (1959).
- [132] G. 't Hooft, Renormalization of Massless Yang-Mills Fields, Nucl. Phys. B 33 (1971) 173
   [INSPIRE].
- [133] H. Bélusca-Maïto, A. Ilakovac, M. Mađor-Božinović and D. Stöckinger, Dimensional regularization and Breitenlohner-Maison/'t Hooft-Veltman scheme for γ<sub>5</sub> applied to chiral YM theories: full one-loop counterterm and RGE structure, JHEP 08 (2020) 024 [arXiv:2004.14398] [INSPIRE].
- [134] D.B. Zacrep and B.L. Young, Trace and Ward-Takahashi Identity Anomalies in an SU(3) Current Model with Energy Momentum Tensor, Phys. Rev. D 12 (1975) 513 [INSPIRE].
- [135] A.Y. Morozov, Anomalies in Gauge Theories, Sov. Phys. Usp. 29 (1986) 993 [INSPIRE].
- [136] Z.-E. Meziani and S. Joosten, Origin of the Proton Mass? Heavy Quarkonium Production at Threshold from Jefferson Lab to an Electron Ion Collider, in Probing Nucleons and Nuclei in High Energy Collisions: Dedicated to the Physics of the Electron Ion Collider, pp. 234–237 (2020) [DOI] [INSPIRE].
- [137] Y. Hatta and D.-L. Yang, Holographic J/ψ production near threshold and the proton mass problem, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 074003 [arXiv:1808.02163] [INSPIRE].
- [138] GLUEX collaboration, First Measurement of Near-Threshold J/ψ Exclusive Photoproduction off the Proton, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 (2019) 072001 [arXiv:1905.10811] [INSPIRE].
- [139] K.A. Mamo and I. Zahed, Diffractive photoproduction of  $J/\psi$  and  $\Upsilon$  using holographic QCD: gravitational form factors and GPD of gluons in the proton, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 086003 [arXiv:1910.04707] [INSPIRE].
- [140] R. Wang, J. Evslin and X. Chen, The origin of proton mass from J/Ψ photo-production data, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 507 [arXiv:1912.12040] [INSPIRE].
- [141] R. Boussarie and Y. Hatta, QCD analysis of near-threshold quarkonium leptoproduction at large photon virtualities, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 114004 [arXiv:2004.12715] [INSPIRE].
- [142] O. Gryniuk, S. Joosten, Z.-E. Meziani and M. Vanderhaeghen, Υ photoproduction on the proton at the Electron-Ion Collider, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 014016 [arXiv:2005.09293] [INSPIRE].
- [143] R. Wang, W. Kou, C. Han, J. Evslin and X. Chen, Proton and deuteron mass radii from near-threshold φ-meson photoproduction, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 074033 [arXiv:2108.03550] [INSPIRE].
- [144] F. Zeng, X.-Y. Wang, L. Zhang, Y.-P. Xie, R. Wang and X. Chen, Near-threshold photoproduction of J/ψ in two-gluon exchange model, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 1027 [arXiv:2008.13439] [INSPIRE].

- [145] R. Wang, W. Kou, Y.-P. Xie and X. Chen, Extraction of the proton mass radius from the vector meson photoproductions near thresholds, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) L091501 [arXiv:2102.01610] [INSPIRE].
- [146] P. Sun, X.-B. Tong and F. Yuan, Perturbative QCD analysis of near threshold heavy quarkonium photoproduction at large momentum transfer, Phys. Lett. B 822 (2021) 136655
   [arXiv:2103.12047] [INSPIRE].
- [147] Y.-P. Xie and V.P. Goncalves, Near threshold heavy vector meson photoproduction at LHC and EicC, arXiv:2103.12568 [INSPIRE].
- [148] R. Clausius, On a mechanical theorem applicable to heat, Phil. Mag. 40 (1870) 122.
- [149] W. Lucha and F.F. Schoberl, The Relativistic Virial Theorem, Phys. Rev. Lett. 64 (1990) 2733 [INSPIRE].
- [150] W. Lucha and F.F. Schoberl, Relativistic virial theorems, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 5 (1990) 2473
   [INSPIRE].
- [151] R.M. Schectman and R.H. Good, Generalizations of the Virial Theorem, Am. J. Phys. 25 (1957) 219.
- [152] M. Born, W. Heisenberg and P. Jordan, Zur Quantenmechanik. II, Z. Phys. 35 (1926) 557 [INSPIRE].
- [153] B.N. Finkelstein, Über den Virialsatz in der Wellenmechanik, Z. Phys. 50 (1928) 293.
- [154] V. Fock, Bemerkung zum Virialsatz, Z. Phys. 63 (1930) 855.
- [155] J. Killingbeck, Methods of Proof and Applications of the Virial Theorem in Classical and Quantum Mechanics, Am. J. Phys. 38 (1970) 590.
- [156] F. Crawford, Footnote to the quantum mechanical virial theorem, Am. J. Phys. 57 (1989) 555.
- [157] R.D. Puff and N.S. Gillis, Fluctuations and transport properties of many-particle systems, Annals Phys. 46 (1968) 364.
- [158] H.A. Gersch, Another derivation of the quantum virial theorem, Am. J. Phys 47 (1979) 555.
- [159] P. Kleban, Virial theorem and scale transformations, Am. J. Phys 47 (1979) 883.
- [160] J. Rafelski, Virial Theorem and Stability of Localized Solutions of Relativistic Classical Interacting Fields, Phys. Rev. D 16 (1977) 1890 [INSPIRE].